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Barita’s 2020 strategic focus areas are a derivative 
of our recently redefi ned vision. For the 2019/20 
fi nancial year, we will be focussed on three (3) 
business priorities driven by nine (9) objectives. 

FINANCIAL 
GAME CHANGERS
revolutionizing wealth accessibility 

• Smarter technology: frictionless customer 
experiences and effi cient business processes. 

• Social Media domination: winning in the digital 
marketing space. 

• Democratizing wealth: making wealth 
creation accessible to a wider cross section of 
Jamaicans. 

BOLD
impactful growth 

• New marketing initiatives: growing our 
managed funds portfolio and expanding the 
scope of marketing programs to include Wealth 
and Institutional Investor segments. 

• Increasing our distribution footprint: expanding 
physically and digitally. 

• Revenue diversifi cation: offering new products 
with a focus on Investment Banking. 

SMARTEST,
brightest and the best team in the business 

• MoneyIQ: unmatched industry insights for 
wealth creation, smarter offerings, empowered 
clients  and winning at every level. 

• Financial Braintrust: timely market intelligence 
via having the best in-house analysts and 
advisors. 

• Talent leaders: our management team is the 
best in the industry.

S T R A T E G I C 
F O C U S

2019 was another reaffi rmation of Barita’s forty-two 
(42) year legacy, created by Rita Humphries-Lewin. 
Cornerstone recognised this legacy and saw that 
Barita was a brand and a business with tremendous 
upside opportunity. 

The post-acquisition strategy started with redefi ning 
the vision as  “Revolutionizing your relationship with 
money.”

Barita promises to change the 
investing paradigm across the 
industry by elevating client 
experiences through innovation, 
compelling investment options and 
purposeful customer engagement.

N E W 
V I S I O N

9.

8.

7.

4.

5.

6.

1.

2.

3.
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We believe in 
interactions 

We’re a team. How we treat each other is important. 
Truth, honour and dignity apply to every interaction.  

We believe in 
connections
We’re facilitators. How we treat our customers 
begins and ends with listening to what they truly 
need and connecting them with solutions that 
exceed their expectations. 

We believe in 
transformation 

We’re Game Changers. We value good ideas 
and validate them with quick, agile execution. 
We believe in changing the way things are done 
for faster and better results. Our ultimate goal 
is always centred around revolutionizing our 
customers relationship with money. 

We believe in intel 
We’re the smartest team in the business. There 
is a reason why we call our team the Barita 
BrainTrust; we are committed to research, analysis 
and innovation, with practical and measurable 
outcomes for our customers. 

We believe in skill-
sharing 
MoneyIQ - Barita’s unique system of understanding 
money and how to make more of it - is only as 
powerful as our ability to pass it on. We are masters 
at what we do because of who we are doing it for 
– our customers. Everything we learn and share 
is geared towards improving their lives; creating 
consistent means of empowering our clients. is key. 

We believe in wealth 
Wealth is not just achievable; with Barita it is an 
expectation. Everything we do is designed to 
create, grow and steward wealth for our clients. 
What we do builds their futures and legacies; and 
that in turn, becomes part of ours. 

C O R E 
V A L U E S

Our brand personality, communication and appeal and are based on 3 primary 
traits. At Barita, we are:

Simply put, we’ve built our team with the best and brightest minds in the industry. 
We blend intel, innovation and insight with genuine interest in our communities, 
helping us to create the results that best serve the heart of our business: our 
customers.

Tech with the Human Touch...that’s our superpower.

B A R I T A 
B R A N D
P I L L A R S

BOLD
SMART
GAME CHANGERS

}
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We face the future head on, unafraid of change or technology. We work hard but we play 
hard too. We never apologize for charging towards excellence, because we know why we 
do it, and for WHOM we do it. This journey is about igniting possibilities in the mind of every 
customer and making customers out of more persons than ever before.

There’s power in every penny. We see a world where people are empowered, not 
intimidated by finances. Barita  MoneyIQ is our winning edge, which is simply our unique 
way of helping clients understand money and how to make more of it. We love sharing what 
we know, sharing the tips, tools and technology that will help our clients in a way that’s 
accessible, easily understood and applied. Our team is backed by our Board consisting of 
captains of industry across many fields, who combine to lead our Barita BrainTrust.

You don’t turn “money” into real wealth without breaking new ground and making bold, 
brilliant moves. Barita is here to ensure that every cent you entrust to us is masterfully 
managed, for the best wealth outcome possible. As financial game changers, we 
revolutionize wealth accessibility through smarter tech, teams and interactions.

BOLD

SMART

GAME CHANGERS

—  B A R I T A  I N V E S T M E N T S  LT D .     

“As financial Game Changers, 
we revolutionize wealth 
accessibility through smarter 
tech, teams and interactions."



7 |  BARITA INVESTMENTS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2019 BARITA INVESTMENTS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2019 |  8

Notice 
of Annual
General
Meeting

8



9 |  BARITA INVESTMENTS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2019 BARITA INVESTMENTS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2019 |  10

Notice of Annual General Meeting

Notice is hereby given that the Forty Second Annual General Meeting of Barita Investments 
Limited (the “Company”) will be held at the AC Marriott Hotel, 38- 42 Lady Musgrave Road, 
Kingston 5, on Thursday, March 26, 2020 at 10:00 a.m., to consider and if thought fit pass 
the following resolutions:

To receive and consider the Directors’ Report and 
Financial Statements for the year ended September 
30, 2019, and the Report of the Auditors thereon.

The proposed resolutions are therefore as follows:

Resolution 3 (ii) (a)
“THAT Director Jason Chambers who retires under 
Article 91 and being eligible for re-election be and is 
hereby re-elected a Director of the Company.”

Resolution 3 (ii) (b)
“THAT Director Matthew Hogarth who retires under 
Article 91 and being eligible for re-election be and is 
hereby re-elected a Director of the Company.”

Article are Phillip Lee, Robert Drummond and Dun-
can Stewart who, being eligible, offer themselves for 
re-election.

To approve and ratify the Interim Dividend Payments 
and declare them final.

Election of Directors.

Resolution 1
“THAT the Audited Accounts together with the Re-
port of the Directors and the Auditors circulated with 
the Notice convening the Meeting be and are hereby 
adopted.” 

Resolution 3 (i) (a)
“THAT Director Phillip Lee who retires by rotation 
and being eligible for re-election be and is hereby 
re-elected a Director of the Company.”

Resolution 3 (i) (b)
“THAT Director Robert Drummond who retires by 
rotation and being eligible for re-election be and is 
hereby re-elected a Director of the Company.”

Resolution 3 (i) (c)
“THAT Director Duncan Stewart who retires by 
rotation and being eligible for re-election be and is 
hereby re-elected a Director of the Company.”

(ii) Article 91 of the Articles of Incorporation provides 
that Directors appointed by the Board to fill a vacan-
cy or as an addition to the Board since the last An-
nual General Meeting shall retire from office at the 
next Annual General Meeting. The Directors retiring 
under this Article are Jason Chambers and Matthew 
Hogarth who, being eligible, offer themselves for 
re-election.

(i) Article 93 of the Articles of Incorporation provides 
that one-third of the Board or, if the number is not 
three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest 
to one-third, shall retire from office at each Annual 
General Meeting. The Directors retiring under this 

Resolution 2
“THAT the interim dividend of J$0.82c per stock 
paid on April 12, 2019 and $1.267c paid on October 
7, 2019 be treated, on the recommendation of the 
Directors, as the final dividends for the financial year 
ended September 30, 2019.”

Dated this 27 day of January 2020
By Order of the Board

________________________

Malindo Wallace
Corporate Secretary

Registered Office
15 St. Lucia Way
Kingston 5

Please note - A member entitled to attend and vote at the 

above-mentioned meeting is entitled to appoint one or more 

proxies to attend and on a poll to vote in his stead. Such proxy 

must be lodged at the Company’s Registered Office no less 

than forty-eight hours before the time appointed for the meet-

ing. The Proxy Form shall bear the stamp duty of J$100.00. A 

proxy need not be a member. The stamp duty may be paid by 

adhesive stamp(s) to be cancelled by the person executing the 

Proxy Form. A suitable form of proxy is enclosed for convenience.

1 . 

2. 

3. 

To appoint Auditors and authorize the Directors to 
fix the remuneration of the Auditors.

To consider any other Resolution(s) in respect of 
any other business which can be transacted at 
an Annual General Meeting.

To approve Directors’ Remuneration

Resolution 4
“THAT BDO Jamaica, having agreed to continue to 
serve as auditors, be and is hereby appointed Audi-
tors of Barita Investments Limited, to hold office until 
the next Annual General Meeting, at a remuneration 
to be fixed by the Directors of the Company.” 

Resolution 5
“THAT the amount included in the Audited Accounts 
of the Company for the year ended September 30, 
2019 as remuneration for their services as Directors 
be and is hereby approved.”

4. 

6. 

5. 
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Barita Investments Limited (“Barita” or “the Company”), 
is a publicly traded company on the Jamaica Stock 
Exchange (JSE), 79.7% owned by Cornerstone Inv-
estments Holdings Limited (“Cornerstone”). Founded 
by Rita Humphries-Lewin in 1977, the Company has 
the distinction of being one of the oldest stock-broking 
companies in Jamaica. The Company is licensed 
by the Financial Services Commission (“FSC”), is a 
member dealer of the JSE and is a Primary Dealer 
and Cambio Dealer for the Bank of Jamaica (“BOJ”).

Barita, home of Jamaica’s top performing equity 
fund - has a legacy of excellence, recognized as a 
particularly strong player in the middle market retail 
segment and a leader in Unit Trust performance. 

Products and services include:

•  C A M B I O  T R A D I N G

•  F I X E D  I N C O M E  T R A D I N G

•  S T O C K  B R O K E R A G E

•  P O O L E D  F U N D S  M A N A G E M E N T

•  S T R U C T U R E D  P R O D U C T S

•  R E T I R E M E N T  P L A N N I N G

•  W E A LT H  M A N A G E M E N T

•  I N V E S T M E N T  B A N K I N G

Cornerstone is a privately held Investment holding 
company whose shareholders are captains of industry 
across the Caribbean. Its principal focus is creating 
shareholder value through investing in high growth and 
undervalued companies via merger and acquisitions.

Cornerstone’s current focus is establishing an integrated 
group of fi nancial services entities to serve select 
commercial and retail markets across Jamaica, with 
capabilities to do business across the Caribbean 
and access to global capital markets. Its long-term 
investment objective is to optimize risk adjusted returns 
expressed through the management of diverse portfolio 
investments across industries and the Caribbean.

Cornerstone is the brainchild of Paul Simpson who is 
the Founder and Chief Executive Offi cer. Mr. Simpson 
is an Investment Banker with over 13 years’ experience. 
He has worked in organizations both in the Caribbean, 
the United States and Europe in various senior roles. 
He holds a Bachelor of Science degree (double major) 
in Computer Science and Geology and an MBA in 
General Management from the University of the West 
Indies. He has served on various government, private 
and charity boards, which include the Youth Advisory 
Committee of UNESCO, YMCA and the Jamaica Tourist 
Board where he held the role of Chairman of the 
Finance and Audit Committee.

Our Business in Brief About Cornerstone – The Parent Company
Through its subsidiary Barita Unit Trusts Management 
Company Limited (“BUTM”), Barita currently offers 
eight (8) unit trust products spanning fi xed income, 
equities and real estate.

Barita serves its clients island-wide through its Head 
Offi ce in Kingston and branches in Mandeville and 
Montego Bay. Barita handles over J$180.0 billion 
dollars of funds, with a team of 128 members across 
its operations island-wide. 

Paul is ably assisted in the management of Cornerstone 
and its subsidiaries by a strong team of professionals 
who each bring specialized skills and expertise to their 
key areas of responsibilities. Importantly, as Cornerstone 
seeks to achieve its mandate of developing an integrated 
fi nancial services group, several risk management 
and governance roles within the Group have been 
consolidated within Cornerstone. These centralized 
roles include Risk Management, Financial Reporting, 
Investment Management, Compliance, and Strategy 
Management.
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Jason Chambers, Chief Investment Offi cer

Jason has over 18 years of experience, spanning the range of securities trading, 
investment and treasury management, corporate fi nance, and corporate banking. Most 
recently, Jason held the position of Vice President of Investment Management at the 
GraceKennedy Group where, he carried out executive oversight of the Asset Management, 
Treasury & Trading, and Investment Banking divisions of GK Capital Management Limited 
and GK Investments Limited. Jason also headed the Corporate Banking Unit within First 
Global Bank Limited and was also a member of the senior management teams of the 
securities dealing subsidiaries of Guardian Holdings and GraceKennedy. Jason was a 
member of the GraceKennedy Group ALCO and served as Acting Chairman of the GK 
Capital Management Limited ALCO. Jason is a graduate of the University of the West 
Indies, where he obtained degrees in Economics and Business Administration.

Robert Drummond, Senior Vice President

Mr. Drummond is a business executive and management consultant with over 30 years 
experience leading and advising organizations through major strategic transformations 
in a range of industries, including fi nancial services. He has held executive appointments 
in Jamaica and the US, including First Global Financial Services, GraceKennedy, NIKE, 
American Express and ITT Sheraton. Recognized as a strategy implementation specialist, 
Robert has contributed signifi cantly through his research and publications on a range of 
topics including “Managing Resistance to Change” and “Organizational Turnarounds”. 
He holds an MBA degree from the Harvard Business School.

Cornerstone Senior Management Team

Weldon Maddan, Chief Operating Offi cer

Weldon has over 15 years of banking experience at senior executive levels with Citigroup 
(Credit Cards, Consumer Lending and Retail Banking) with assignments in Canada, UK 
and Poland. He has held CFO responsibilities for Online Marketing, Citi Partners and the 
Customer Contact Leveraging business units at Citi Cards. His work experience spans 
fi nance, marketing, risk and operations. He is currently the Secretary for the Jamaica 
Bankers Association and Chairman of the Jamaica Institute of Financial Services. Weldon 
received a BS in Engineering from Boston University, an MBA in Finance from Columbia 
Business School and earned his Charted Financial Analyst designation in 2007.

Gavin Jordan, Chief Financial Offi cer

Gavin has tremendous fi nancial expertise and experience. Prior to his role at Cornerstone, 
he was the CFO for GraceKennedy Foods (USA) and Divisional CFO, GK Foods before that. 
At GK Foods, Gavin provided fi nancial leadership to the subsidiaries in the Foods Division 
both locally and internationally; supported the development of the division’s strategy 
and the evaluation of various strategic initiatives. Gavin was also Finance Director and 
Company Secretary of Carreras and CFO of First Global Bank, where he was ultimately 
responsible for the day to day operations of the accounting and fi nancial reporting 
functions. Gavin holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Accounting and Economics from 
the University of the West indies, a Master of Science degree in Financial Management 
from the University of London, and is also a Certifi ed Public Accountant. He is a member 
of the American Institute of the Certifi ed Public Accountants and the Colorado State 
Board of Accountancy.
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CORPORATE STRUCTURE

Barita Unit Trusts
Management Company 

Limited
Pooled and Unitized
Fund Management

O

Dane Brodber, Chief Risk Offi cer

Dane has over 16 years of experience in the fi nancial services industry with extensive 
experience in Market Risk Management, as well as experience with Strategy, Business 
Intelligence, and Financial Analysis. Most recently, Dane held the position of Regional 
Director, Market Risk management at Scotiabank, where he had responsibility for the 
measurement, monitoring and governance of market risk exposures throughout the 
English-speaking Caribbean. Dane earned undergraduate degrees in Mechanical 
Engineering and Economics and Business from Lafayette College and an MBA from 
the University of New Orleans. He earned the CFA Charter in 2006, the Financial Risk 
Manager (FRM) designation in 2007, and the Chartered Alternative Investment Analyst 
(CAIA) designation in 2019. Dane is the founding Vice President of CFA Society Jamaica 
and has been a CFA exam tutor at B&B University College since 2010 in the areas of 
Corporate Finance, Derivatives, and Quantitative Methods.

Malindo Wallace, Group Legal Counsel & Chief Compliance Offi cer

Malindo joined Cornerstone as Legal Counsel on April 15, 2019 where she has 
responsibility for the legal, compliance and corporate secretarial functions. Prior to 
joining Cornerstone, Malindo held several key roles at GraceKennedy Limited. Including 
Legal Offi cer (Group), Senior Manager, Treasury and Corporate Finance, and Treasury 
Manager before that. She is credited with the establishment of the Asset and Liability 
Committee for GraceKennedy Limited in 2010. Prior to that, Malindo was employed to 
the UDC as Investment Manager and spent four years with Capital Options Limited as 
Corporate Finance Manager. Malindo has extensive banking experience having worked 
with NCB as well as Capital and Credit Merchant Bank. Malindo holds a Bachelors of 
Science degree in Management and Accounts (double major) from the University of the 
West Indies and an M.B.A in Finance from Manchester Business School. She also attained 
her Bachelors of Law from the University of London and her Legal Education Certifi cate 
from the Norman Manley Law School.
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Performance Highlights

Record Net Profits for the 
second consecutive year
Barita recorded our highest profit in the Company’s 
history, with Net Profits in FY 2019 of J$1.7 billion, a 
371.5% increase versus FY 2018.

Top Performing Fund
Barita’s Capital Growth Fund was one of the best 
performing Collective Investment Schemes in Jamaica, 
for the calendar year ending December 2018.

Stronger Capital Base

Jamaica Stock Exchange 
(JSE) Awards 2019

Launched Investment 
Banking Business Line

In FY 2019 Barita successfully raised J$10.2 billion in new 
equity capital through two oversubscribed Rights Issues 
(J$9.2 billion) and the issuance of Non-Redeemable 
Cumulative Preference Shares (J$1.0 billion). 

We closed FY 2019 with J$13.7 billion in Total Equity 
up 345.8% from the J$3.1 billion recorded at the end 
of FY 2018.

Barita received three awards for Best Website Member Dealer, 
Best Website Main Market and 2nd Runner up Investor Rela-
tions at the JSE Best Practices Awards.

In December 2018, we launched our Investment Banking 
business. In the ten (10) months to September 2019 we 
generated ~J$279.0 million in revenue and were involved 
in transactions that raised ~J$10.0 billion in funding for 
local and regional companies.
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#1 Performing Stock
Barita Investments Ltd. was the best performing stock 
on the JSE in the calendar year ending December 2018 
returning 611.0% to close the year at J$53.17. The stock 
rose a further 62.6% to close the financial year ending 
September 2019 at J$86.46.

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Revenue Diversification
Our revenue diversification strategy is an ongoing 
success, with the addition of our Investment Banking 
business and growth in our Asset Management and 
Securities Trading lines helping to push Non-Interest 
Revenue as a percentage of Total Revenue to 83.6% in 
FY 2019 relative to 67.6% in FY 2018.

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Improving Efficiency Ratio
The sharp rise in revenues Year-over-Year (YoY) by 
205.0% to J$3.9 billion supported an improvement in 
our Efficiency Ratio from 58.3% in FY 2018 to 36.4% in 
FY 2019.

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Record Balance Sheet Size
The Company closed the year with a record of J$41.0 
billion in Total Assets on Balance Sheet up J$22.0 
billion from FY 2018’s close of J$18.9 billion.
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Record Funds Under Management 
(“FUM”)
Total FUM for Barita rose to a record J$180.0 billion
as at the end of FY 2019.

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Return on Equity
Barita’s Return on Equity rose sharply to 20.5% for 
FY 2019 from 12.4% in FY 2018.

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Financial Highlights
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5 -Year Statistical Review
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Chairman’s Message

The past fi nancial year was a success for the 
Company, and I am pleased to share the highlights.
It was Barita’s fi rst full fi nancial year since Cornerstone 
acquired majority shareholding and the Barita brand 
still reflects the legacy built by the Company’s 
founder and past Chairman, Mrs. Rita Humphries-
Lewin. The Board mandated Deputy Chairman, Paul 
Simpson, to transform the leadership of the business, 
which included bolstering the human capital with top 
industry talent. 

This focus and its supporting initiatives led to the 
bolstering of the Enterprise Risk Management 
(“ERM”) and governance frameworks, including 
a transformation in our customer acquisition and 
engagement efforts. Importantly, the launch of new 
business lines and products, as well as increased

Bold Moves.
Big Gains.

capitalization that further strengthened the Company’s 
financial position, saw the Company delivering 
unprecedented returns to our customers, staff, and 
shareholders.

The fi nancial year (“FY”) October 1, 2018 to September 
30, 2019 saw us posting our second consecutive year 
of record profi t before tax of J$2.5 billion, up 351.5% 
or J$1.9 billion from J$543.7 million a year earlier. 
Profi t after tax was also a record-setting J$1.7 billion, 
translating into earnings per share of J$2.42, up from 
J$0.56 in FY 2018. The revenue and profi t results were 
set in the context of a much more robust fi nancial 
position as during the year, our total equity position 
rose by J$10.6 billion to close the year at J$13.7 
billion, up 345.8% from the J$3.1 billion at the end of 
FY 2018. Our stock price appreciated 363% to close 
the FY 2019 at J$86.60 and a new watermark was set 
as the Company returned $1.3 billion to shareholders 
in the form of dividends.  

The Company’s staff engagement and alignment 
programme is already paying off with improvement 
noted in our operational effi ciency as well as 
growth and diversifi cation in our revenue base. Our 
effi ciency ratio improved from 59% in FY 2018 to 
40% in FY 2019. Consequently, the Board approved 
the implementation of a Stock Option programme to 
acknowledge the contributions of the team and to 
ensure that they also become owners of this great 
company.

We have taken several steps to maintain and 
strengthen our risk management and governance 
capabilities.  This includes the recruitment of our 
Chief Risk Offi cer, the engagement of Ernst & Young 
to assist the Company with developing a best in class 
ERM, and the engagement of KPMG to enhance our 
internal control structure by strengthening several 
critical policies and procedures.

We successfully 
completed two Rights 
issues as well as a 
Non-Redeemable 
Preference Share issue, 
collectively raising 
J$10.2 billion in fresh 
equity capital.
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Community Involvement

As we grow, we remain committed to making a dif-
ference in the communities we have long supported. 
Along with our usual contributions through our own 
Education Foundation, and the work of Father Ho 
Lung and the Missionaries of the Poor, this year we ex-
tended our reach to the maternity ward at the Victoria 
Jubilee Hospital and also completed the furnishing of 
the Mary Bond Basic School in Harbour View.

We are deeply invested in helping Jamaica unlock 
its potential and will continue to play our part in the 
Country’s development.

We remain 
committed to 
making a difference 
in the communities 
we have long 
supported.

We remain 
committed to 
making a difference 
in the communities 
we have long 
supported.

Outlook

Throughout the fi nancial year, Barita’s local operating 
environment was characterised by the effects of 
pragmatic fi scal policy and accommodative monetary 
policy. These effects included the persistence of 
low infl ation and interest rates, higher asset prices 
and a marked increase in capital market activity. 
The external operating environment was dominated 
for the fi rst half of the fi nancial year by fears of a 
material economic slowdown in growth in developed 
countries. These fears were exacerbated by the 
uncertainty created by trade tensions between China 
and the United States. 

We are generally positive on our outlook for 
opportunities in the local and global environments in 
the upcoming fi nancial year. Our optimism is anchored 
in a belief that the generally accommodative 
monetary policy environment should continue 
to support elevated demand for investment and 
fi nancing solutions in the near term.

Everything we accomplished in FY 2019 uniquely 
positions us to succeed as we continue to build the 
Company and explore avenues for value-enhancement 
for all stakeholders.

You, our shareholders, team members and customers, 
are a big part of why this is all possible. Thank you for 
choosing Barita.

____________________________
Mark Myers
Chairman

Our 

____________________________
Mark Myers
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Board of Directors

Duncan Stewart, Director | Chairman - Investment Committee

Mr. Stewart is the General Manager of Stewart Motors Ltd. and he is also involved in 
leading related family businesses, Stewart’s Auto Sales Ltd. and its affi liated companies, 
Stewart’s Auto Paints Ltd., Tropic Island Trading Company Ltd. and Silver Star Motors Ltd. 
Mr. Stewart is also a Director of the Automobile Dealers Association and the Richard and 
Diana Stewart Foundation. Currently, he is a sponsor of the family charity, Kind Hearts, 
which is run by his children and their cousins.

Carl Domville, Director | Chairman - Audit Committee

Mr. Domville is the former Chief Operating Offi cer and Group Treasurer of the Seprod 
Group of Companies. A Chartered Accountant, he currently serves as a Director of Radio 
Jamaica Limited (RJR), The Gleaner Company Limited and is also a Trustee of the Seprod 
et al Superannuation Scheme. He is also a former President of the Jamaica Cooperative 
Credit Union League Limited.

Phillip Lee, Director

Mr. Lee is Group Managing Director for the companies owned and operated by the Lee 
family. These include Labels & Boxes Ltd. and Rotofl ex Jamaica Ltd. which are the leading 
manufacturers of labels and packaging material in Jamaica. Mr. Lee has over 30 years 
of experience in the industry and his companies supply many of the largest Jamaican 
manufacturers including GraceKennedy Ltd., Red Stripe and Salada Foods Jamaica Ltd. 
He has been involved in numerous successful packaging projects for these companies 
and continues to be consulted by the owners of major brands for his expertise.

James Godfrey, Director

Mr. Godfrey is the Co-Founder and Managing Director of S&G Road Surfacing Materials 
Ltd. With over 30 years entrepreneurial experience, Mr. Godfrey has built the entity into 
one of Jamaica’s leading asphalt manufacturing and road work solutions companies. 
Since its inception, S&G Road Surfacing Materials Ltd.’s portfolio of completed projects 
includes parking lots, driveways, multipurpose courts, roadways, roundabouts and 
related infrastructure projects in partnership with the National Works Agency, Gore 
Development Limited and China Harbour Engineering Corporation.Mark Myers, Chairman

An astute businessman, Mr. Myers is the Managing Director of Restaurants of 
Jamaica Ltd. Mr. Myers holds a Bsc degree in Operations, Transportation and 
Distribution management from Syracuse University’s School of Management. 
A believer in contributing to the development of his country, he has served on 
several boards to include the Bank of Jamaica, Jamaica Trade and Investment 
Limited and the Jamaica Observer Limited.

Paul Simpson, Deputy Chairman

Mr. Simpson is the Founder, President and CEO of Cornerstone. He is an Investment 
Banker with over 13 years experience having worked in the Caribbean, the United 
States and Europe in various roles. He holds a double major in Computer Science 
and Geology and an MBA from the University of the West Indies. He has served 
on various government, private and charity boards including the Youth Arm of 
UNESCO, YMCA and the Jamaica Tourist Board where he was the Chairman of 
the Finance and Audit Committee.
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Robert Drummond, Director

Mr. Drummond is a business executive and management consultant with over 30 years of 
experience leading and advising organizations through major strategic transformations. 
He has held executive appointments at prominent companies in Jamaica and the US, 
including First Global Financial Services Limited, NIKE, American Express and ITT 
Sheraton. As a strategy implementation specialist, he has contributed signifi cantly 
through his research and publications including “Managing Resistance to Change” and 
“Organizational Turnarounds”. He holds an MBA from Harvard Business School.

Rita Humphries-Lewin, Director

Mrs. Humphries-Lewin has been at the forefront of Jamaica’s stock broking industry for 
over 45 years and is the Founder and Former Chairman of Barita. As the fi rst female 
Chairman of a stock exchange in the Caribbean, she led the JSE in 1984 and again in 
1995-2000. During her tenure, she spearheaded the establishment of the JCSD in 1998 
and the development of electronic trading on the JSE in 2000. Her sterling contribution 
to the development of the island’s Financial Industry led to her being conferred with 
The Order of Distinction Commander by the Government of Jamaica in the year 2000. 
She was honoured with a Doctor of Education in Leadership by Mico University, for her 
contribution to early childhood development. Mrs. Humphries-Lewin is the Business 
Lifetime Achievement Award recipient for the Gleaner Honour Awards 2016.

Ian McNaughton, Director (resigned Dec 24, 2019)

Mr. McNaughton is a fi nance and management specialist with over 25 years of experience. 
He joined Barita in 2008 as Financial Controller and Corporate Secretary and served 
as General Manager from November 2009 until 2013, when he was appointed as the 
Managing Director. He is also the current Chairman of the JSE and Director of the Jamaica 
Central Securities Depository. He is a Director of the Harbour View Football Club and 
also serves on the board of EDUCOM Credit Union.

—  L A K S H M I  M I T T A L ,  C H A I R M A N  &  C E O 
O F  A R C E L O R M I T T A L

“Always think outside 
the box and embrace 
opportunities that appear, 
wherever they might be.”
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I N T R O D U C T I O N

Consequent on the change in majority ownership of 
Barita Investments Limited, a new Board of Directors 
was appointed in September of 2018 which has 
met monthly as it sought to guide the Company 
in navigating and charting a new strategic course.  
The Board spent the last twelve months evaluating 
the Company’s internal policies and procedures, 
corporate governance framework and risk management 
framework with a view to having them complement 
the re-designed strategies and goals of the Company 
necessitated by the new vision and mission. 

The Board has affirmed its commitment to establishing 
and maintaining the highest standards of good 
corporate governance that are consistent with 
regulatory standards and best practices. The Company 
established the Management Investment Committee 
during the financial year which is responsible for 
oversight of the execution of the broad investment 
management mandate of Barita. The monthly meetings 
of the Board along with the strategic and business 
insights of management has assisted the Board in 
understanding the challenges and opportunities 
faced by the Company.

D E F I N I T I O N S

Corporate Governance

D

D

more held in
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C O R P O R A T E 
G O V E R N A N C E 
S T R U C T U R E /
F R A M E W O R K

As a company regulated by the FSC that is also listed 
on the JSE, the Board recognizes the importance 
of operating within an established framework that 
provides for guidelines and policies that are consistent 
with best practices and regulatory requirements.  The 
Corporate Governance policies of the Company are 
overseen by the Board, which ensures that prudent 
and effective controls are in place to enable the 
Company to function in a sound and sustainable 
way and to meets its strategic goals and statutory 
requirements. 

The Corporate Governance Policy will continue to be 
reviewed to ensure that the Company’s core values 
of safety, integrity and prudent money management 
are met. Kindly note that our Corporate Governance 
policy is available on our website at www.barita.com.

T H E  R O L E  &  R E S P O N S I B I L I T Y 
O F  T H E  B O A R D

The Board of Directors is central to the Company’s operations. It supervises the work of the Executive Management 
Team and is responsible for the overall management and strategic direction  of the Company. The Directors, as part of 
their fiduciary obligations, are ultimately accountable to the shareholders for the proper management of the Company. 
They are required to exercise their fiduciary responsibility with due care, judgment, diligence, skill and transparency. In 
accordance with its mandate the Board’s responsibilities include the following critical duties and functions: 
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B O A R D  C O M P O S I T I O N  &  E X P E R T I S E 

C H A I R M A N S H I P 

The Chairman, Mr. Mark Myers, is an Independent/
Non-Executive Director, whose primary role is the 
effective conduct of the Board’s affairs. As a non-
executive Chairman he brings a greater level of 
independent oversight to the role which allows 
for increased accountability from Management. In 
addition to chairing Board Meetings he also leads all 
General Meetings of the shareholders.

C O M P O S I T I O N 

As at September 30, 2019, the Board of Barita 
Investments Limited consists of nine (9) members, five 
(5) of whom are Independent Directors. 

A P P O I N T M E N T,  T E R M ,  E L E C T I O N  & 
R E T I R E M E N T 

Under the Articles of Incorporation of the Company 
at least one-third of the Directors are required to 
retire each year at the Annual General Meeting but 
are eligible for re-election by the shareholders. Any 
Director employed to the Company shall cease to 
be a Director upon termination of any employment 
contract with the Company. Directors Duncan 
Stewart, Robert Drummond and Phillip Lee retire by 
rotation and are eligible for re-election. Additionally, 
Directors Jason Chambers and Matthew Hogarth who 
were appointed by the Board in December of 2019 
and January 2020 are slated to retire and are eligible 
for re-election.  
 

E X P E R T I S E / E X P E R I E N C E 

Board members are selected to provide a balance of skills and experience for the Company. Consideration is 
given as to their reputation in their respective professions, their honesty and integrity, and the time available 
to devote to the Board and work of the Committees. The Board believes that the breadth of skill, knowledge 
and experience of the Directors is well balanced to provide the depth of critical thinking and relevant business 
acumen required to support the business decision-making process.
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A U D I T  C O M M I T T E E

The Audit Committee appointed by the Board assists 
the Board in providing oversight of the financial 
reporting process, effectiveness of internal controls, 
risk management systems, as well as quality issues 
in relation to the Company’s audits and serves as a 
conduit between our internal and external auditors 
and the Board. The Audit Committee is comprised of 
five (5) members and is chaired by a member who is 
a chartered accountant with experience in treasury 
management, auditing, financial reporting and 
internal controls. The majority of the members are 
Non-Executive Independent members.  The members 
of the Audit Committee for the financial year were 
Carl Domville, (Chair), Robert Drummond, Phillip Lee, 
Duncan Stewart and Ian McNaughton.

The Audit Committee conducted five (5) meetings 
during the financial year. There were no known 
reported incidences of fraud or any reported 
irregularities.  

 
M A N A G E M E N T  I N V E S T M E N T 
C O M M I T T E E 

The Management Investment Committee while not 
being a board appointed committee does perform a 
critically important role in the governance function of 
the organization. This Committee is mandated to meet 
on a periodic basis to examine and determine the 
direction of the various markets for both the clients and 
the Company. It is also responsible for assessing the 
development and execution of investment strategies 

evaluation process. In addition to the self-assessment 
an external assessment is also conducted periodically.

 
S H A R E H O L D E R  E N G A G E M E N T  & 
C O M M U N I C A T I O N 

The Company is committed to affording shareholders 
every opportunity to gain insight into the Company’s 
operation to understand the basis for the movement 
in the share price. It is also important to the Directors 
and the Company that the shareholders are aware 
and appreciate the strategic directions and objectives 
of the Company. This is done by means of the Annual 
General Meeting, Extra-ordinary General Meetings 
and through the website. The minutes of the Annual 
General Meetings are available to shareholders at 
the next following Meeting and includes questions 
asked by shareholders.

Shareholders can engage the Company by way of 
the website by sending emails to 
makingmoney@barita.com.

D I R E C T O R S ’  R E M U N E R A T I O N 

The Board approves the remuneration of the Directors 
which is not based on the performance of Barita, 
however the responsibilities and time commitment are 
taken into account. The structure of the remuneration 
is based on a basic retainer and a fixed payment per 
meeting attended for both the Board and Committee 
members. Additionally, Directors are compensated 
for travel and other expenses incurred in the 
performance of their role. For the financial year ending 
2019, Directors were paid a total of J$19,825,000.00 
compared to J$6,485,000.00 paid for the financial 
year ending 2018. 

 
B O A R D  E V A L U A T I O N 

Consistent with best practices the Board undertakes 
a self-evaluation of its own operations and 
performance as well as an evaluation of the Company’s 
Executive Management Team. The Chairman has 
the responsibility for leading and overseeing the 

for the portfolio of the Company and its subsidiary that 
are consistent with the strategic objectives approved 
by the Board and are fully aligned with the Company’s 
risk appetite and risk management objectives.

T R A I N I N G

In order to effectively discharge their responsibilities 
both to shareholders and other stakeholders the 
Company recognizes that it is important that the 
Directors are exposed to focused professional training 
and education as well as general training. One of 
the key areas in which Directors were provided with 
training during the financial year was in the area of 
Anti-Money Laundering, which was a two-and-a-half-
hour training session undertaken by a professional 
instructor. Additionally, the senior Management 
provided general exposure to the Board on key 
strategic initiatives, which involved education and 
orientation related to general economic, global and 
market affairs and developments, as well as emerging 
trends which are important to understanding the 
business requirements, opportunities, challenges and 
risks of the Company.

C O M M I T T E E
R E P O R T   

A T T E N D A N C E :
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The year ended September 2019 was truly “game 
changing” for Barita.  In August 2018 Barita saw a 
change of hands with our major shareholder 
becoming Cornerstone, led by the visionary Paul 
Simpson, founder and CEO of Cornerstone, who now 
holds the role of Deputy Chairman of Barita. 

This change ushered in a new era for Barita, with a 
mission of building on the solid foundation left by the 
bold and gracious Rita Humphries-Lewin, who has 
remained on our Board and is still a large shareholder.

So, it is with a special sense of gratitude that I write 
this report as we refl ect on our history and the many 
opportunities and challenges faced throughout the 
year.

With the acquisition came major new initiatives, the 
most signifi cant of which was our capital raising effort. 
We successfully raised over $10.0 billion in tier one 
capital from two Rights Issues and a Preference Share 
issue to perfectly position Barita for the years ahead.  
The market response was overwhelmingly positive.   
To all our shareholders, those who have been with 
us over the years, and those who recently came on 
board, we are sincerely grateful for your support.  Our 
share price rose from $18.53 at the beginning of the 
year to $86.46 at our year-end and we now have a 
capital base of $13.7 billion - quadrupling where we 
started the year. 

This year, we also redefi ned our mission and vision.

M I S S I O N
– Staying ahead, growing wealth

V I S I O N
– We will revolutionise your relationship with money

With our mission and vision at the core of all we do, 
we are committed to commanding the lead in our 
industry, using technology and information to stay on 
the cutting-edge of service delivery and strategizing 
compelling investment options to grow wealth for our 
stakeholders.

As the year progressed, we bolstered the team 
with several strategic hires at the senior level.  We 
increased our team of advisors as well as those 
who provide customer service to meet our growing 
customer base.  This year, we achieved the number 
one position in the fi nancial services industry for 
digital communication with our community.  We also 
implemented a dedicated unit for our digital clients as 
well as those who wish to be served by phone.

We mark 2018-2019 as a year of phenomenal success, 
a record-breaking year that generated profi t of $1.7 
billion, spurring us to new heights. We couldn’t have 
done this without our outstanding team members 
who have risen to the new demands with remarkable 
energy, insight and commitment, and we are truly 
grateful to them.

We especially thank Ian McNaughton, our former 
Managing Director, who is recognised for taking us 
through this critical transition. Ian took Barita to its 
current position through his steadiness and dedication

for the last 13 years. Post year-end, Ian moved on to 
pursue other interests. We wish him every success.  
We thank our team, our loyal customers, our 
supportive shareholders, our business partners and 
our Board of Directors for a truly breakthrough year. 

The game is about to change even more, and we’re 
excited to see all that the new fi nancial year will bring.

With thanks,

Paula Barclay

General Manager’s Report
1. The commencement of our Private 

Wealth division

2. Our entry into Investment Banking

3. The launching of our new website, 

Barita.com

4. Holding our position of The Number 1 

performing Unit Trust in Jamaica

5. Won JSE Best Practice Awards for – 

 Best Website – Member Dealer

 Best Website – Main Market

 2nd runner up Investor Relations – 

              Member Dealer.

6. Successfully rebranded Barita

For the new year, we have set out to do the 
following:

Key achievements during the fi nancial year 
included the following:

1. Expand our physical footprint 

2. Deliver amazing customer service 
to meet the changing needs of our 
growing customer base

3. Provide value differentiating new 
products and services

4. Significantly increase funding to our 
clients in the private credit space

5. Expand our digital customer channel  

6. Continue to build our brand
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Jason Chambers, Managing Director
| Baria Unit Trusts Management Company Limited

Mr. Chambers has over 18 years of experience, spanning the range of Securities Trading, 
Investment and Treasury Management, Corporate Finance, and Corporate Banking. Most 
recently, Mr. Chambers held the position of Vice President of Investment Management 
at the GK Capital Management Ltd. Mr. Chambers also headed the Corporate Banking 
Unit within First Global Bank Limited and was also a member of the senior management 
teams of the securities dealing subsidiaries of Guardian Holdings and GraceKennedy. Mr. 
Chambers is a graduate of the University of the West Indies, where he obtained degrees 
in Economics and Business Administration.

Ramon Small-Ferguson, Vice President | Asset Management & Research

Mr. Small-Ferguson joined Barita from JN Fund Managers Ltd. where he was Chief 
Investment Strategist and Head of Research. Prior to that he was Investment Analyst, 
and then Portfolio Manager at JN Bank. He has a Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA®) 
designation awarded by the CFA Institute and is certifi ed as a Financial Risk Manager 
(FRM®), by the Global Association of Risk Professionals. He also holds a Bachelor of 
Business Administration (BBA), Finance & Marketing (Hons) from the University of 
Technology, Jamaica.

Paula Barclay, General Manager

Prior to joining Barita, Mrs. Barclay held several roles at the GraceKennedy Group 
including, Group Treasurer, Managing Director of First Global Leasing as well as General 
Manager, Chief Credit Risk Offi cer, Senior Vice President for Personal and Business 
Banking and Vice President of Corporate Banking at First Global Bank. At First Global 
Financial Services Limited she served in the capacity of Vice President for Pension Fund 
Management and Vice President for Business Development. She also served on various 
boards and committees that governed the GraceKennedy Group. Mrs. Barclay holds an 
MBA from Barry University and has completed ‘The Leadership Journey’ at The Wharton 
Business School.

Leadership Team

Michele McRae, Head | Information Technology

Ms. McRae joined Barita in 1992 as a Systems & Software Consultant. In November 
2013, she was appointed as Manager of Software Development. Ms. McRae holds a BSc 
Degree in Management Studies from the University of the West Indies and a Master of 
Science Degree in Computer Based Management & Information Systems.

Sonia Owens, Head | Treasury & Financial Institutions

Mrs. Owens joined Barita in 1984 and held several positions over the years including 
Trading and Investments Manager, culminating in her most recent promotion to Head, 
Treasury &e Financial Institutions. She holds a BSc Degree in Banking and Finance from 
the University of the West Indies, has attended several professional training courses 
with JIM, JIB, Cl Financial and Euro Finance and has completed an MBA at Edinburgh 
Business School.

Anmarie Walker-Cato, Group Financial Controller

Mrs. Walker-Cato has spent much of her life cultivating expertise across multiple areas 
of fi nance and accounting. Today she stands as our Group Financial Controller, having 
also held the positions of Assistant Vice President, Finance at Proven Wealth Limited, 
Senior Manager – Financial Control at First Global Bank Limited (FGB) inter alia. A highly-
qualifi ed professional, Mrs. Walker-Cato holds a BSc in Accounting and Management 
Studies from UWI, an MBA from Florida International University (FIU) and is an FCCA-
Certifi ed Chartered Accountant.
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BARITA ORGANIZATIONAL CHART

Kerrie Baylis, Head | Wealth Management

At just 22 years old, Miss Baylis obtained her Law Degree (Hons) from the University of 
Surrey in the UK. Her introduction into the fi nancial sector came from early mentorship 
and training at US multinational Investment Bank, Morgan Stanley. Miss Baylis brings 
seven years of combined experience in wealth and portfolio management, investment 
analysis and investment advisory services. A former Miss Jamaica World (2009) and Miss 
Jamaica Universe (2013), Miss Baylis’ strong relationship management skills, coupled 
with her in-depth product knowledge has seen her evolve into one of Jamaica’s top 
performing fi nancial advisors. In her role as Head of Wealth Management at Barita, Miss 
Baylis will lead an innovative team focused on delivering personalized fi nancial solutions 
to individual and corporate clients.

Chad-Paul Priestly, Head | Retail Investments

Mr. Priestly is no stranger to developing meaningful, productive relationships with 
customer communities. With his BSc in Tourism Management, he masterfully establishes 
genuine connections with clients and colleagues alike. With extensive experience in 
the banking and customer service industries, he has held positions as fi rst Business 
Development Offi cer then Branch Manager at First Global Bank.

Finance &
Accounting
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M A R K E T  R E V I E W

The international equity markets were significantly 
dampened by the ongoing “Trade War” between 
two global economic powerhouse nations - the 
US and China. Between the periods in review, the 
Dow Jones Industrial Average, which is a stock 
market index that measures the stock performance 
of 30 large companies listed on stock exchanges 
in the United States, rallied from 26,651.21 to settle 
at a mere 26,916.83. Further pressures on global 
growth came from country-specific weakness in 
large emerging market economies. For instance, 
worsening macroeconomic stress related to tighter 
financial conditions (Argentina), geopolitical tension 
(Iran) and social unrest (Libya, Venezuela) all added 
to the weakest global economic growth since the 
global financial crisis a decade ago. In FY 2019, the 
underlying volatility in the US can be examined by 
the Volatility Index (VIX – developed by the Chicago 
Board Options Exchange – CBOE) for which we saw 
a net change of 35.3% compared to 28.3% in the 
corresponding period which indicates an increase in 
volatility. 

This market activity was in contrast to our buoyant 
local market which continued to reflect the ongoing 
paradigm shift in Jamaica towards becoming a 
more resilient, growing economy. Jamaica achieved 

Management Discussion & Analysis

two rating upgrades by Fitch and Standards & 
Poor’s (“S&P”) to B+ in January and September 
respectively. This vote of confidence by the 
international market was due to Jamaica’s sustained 
progress in achieving macroeconomic stability and 
strengthening of external liquidity which improved 
the country’s ability to withstand external shocks. 
This was also supported by the Jamaica’s Debt 
to GDP falling below 100% and the continued 
completion of the country’s fiscal quantitative and 
indicative performance criteria under the 3-year IMF 
Precautionary Stand-By Agreement. The Statistical 
Institute of Jamaica reported that GDP grew by 0.6 
% for the period (July 2019 to September 2019) year-
on-year, and unemployment fell to a historical low 
of 7.8% in July 2019, Inflation remained within the 
BOJ’s range of 4%-6% at 4.1% as at August 2019 and 
comfortably within the IMF’s range of 3.5% - 6.5%.

The Government of Jamaica (“GOJ”) also did a major 
tax “give back” in the form of removing the minimum 
business tax, removal of asset tax for all non-
financial institutions and making stamp duty cost 
a fixed amount per transaction. These initiatives 
have helped to make doing business easier and 
positioned Jamaica as an island open for business.

Looking 
F I X E D  I N C O M E  M A R K E T 

The Government maintained their goal of being more accommodating through expansionary monetary policies 
designed to increase demand at a “moderate to improving pace”. In line with this goal, approximately J$4 billion 
was injected into the local market through the maturity of GOJ paper. The Government also (i) reopened a GOJ 
Global Note, and (ii) refinanced existing notes at lower interest rates. These market operations both increased 
the currency in circulation while also offering additional securities for the domestic market to allocate to their 
portfolios. Interest rates in all spheres within the domestic market place remained relatively low; this includes 
the 30-Day CD, Overnight Private Money Market Rate (PMMR), 30-Day PMMR, and the Overnight Interbank 
Rate. The yields on the 90-Day, 180-Day & 270-Day Treasury Bill rates have also seen declines over 
the same period.



57 |  BARITA INVESTMENTS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2019 BARITA INVESTMENTS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2019 |  58

L O C A L  E Q U I T I E S

As we are in a relatively low interest rate environment, with the BOJ lowering its benchmark rate to 0.50% and 
the GOJ deleveraging, investors are looking to invest capital in alternative asset classes. This net demand for 
assets by investors underpinned the overall increases in equity prices for FY 2019.

The JSE Main Index, Junior Market Index and The All Jamaican Composite Index grew by 40.5%, 4.0% and 40.7% 
respectively between October 1, 2018 - September 30, 2019. The positive performance of the equities market was 
influenced by ongoing macroeconomic developments, including low and stable inflation and an accommodative 
monetary policy stance from the Central Bank. There has also been a strengthening of investor confidence in the 
stock market which was reflected by the oversubscription of initial public offerings (IPOs), specifically The Limners 
and Bards Limited (LAB) and QWI Investments Limited for the September 2019 quarter. Investments in equities 
provided more favourable returns compared to foreign currency and domestic money market investments. The 
JSE Combined Index for Financial Year 2019 increased by 36.9%.

F O R E I G N  E X C H A N G E  M A R K E T 

The year ending September 2019 saw the Jamaican 
Dollar trading at $135.16 to US$1.00, increasing from 
$134.65 a year earlier.  This reflected a 0.4% Jamaican 
Dollar depreciation relative to the US Dollar, compared 
to 3.6% for the year ending September 30, 2018. The 
quarter ending September 2019 had the exchange rate 
depreciating at a slower pace relative to the previous 
quarter at 3.3%. The slowdown during the September 
2019 period was partly related to increased earner 
supply and reduced portfolio demand, particularly 
towards the latter part of the year. The financial year 
was, however, characterised by significant two-way 
volatility with the currency trading within a J$13.55 
range from J$124.79:US$1.00 to J$138.34:US$1.00. 
The Central Bank was fairly active in the foreign 
exchange market at points of extreme under or 
oversupply of foreign currency through its B-FXITT 
window.

The financial year 
was, however, 
characterised by 
significant two-way 
volatility with the 
currency trading 
within a J$13.55 
range.
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F I N A N C I A L  P E R F O R M A N C E

Barita demonstrated growth across all areas of the 
business during the financial year. This was the direct 
result of our business transformation and enhanced 
strategic focus, ultimately leading us to the strongest 
financial performance in our 42-year history. It meant 
a 371.0% increase in Net Profits attributable to the 
company’s shareholders toJ$1.7 billion (EPS: J$2.42) 
in FY 2019 relative to J$363.2 million (EPS: J$0.56) in 
FY 2018. 

Our three (3) successful capital raising exercises 
resulted in J$10.2 billion in fresh equity capital in the 
business, quadrupling the Company’s capital position; 
these were vital to our great success in FY 2019. We 
closed the year with a capital position of J$13.7 billion 
relative to J$3 billion in FY 2018 and a record total 
asset position of J$41 billion relative to J$18.9 billion 
in FY 2018.

R E V E N U E 

Total Revenue rose 205.0% YoY to J$4.0 billion from 
J$1.3 billion in FY 2018. The marked rise in Revenue 
YoY was driven by material increases in most revenue 
lines throughout the year resulting from the effects of 
our strategy which has been characterised by:

Addition of New Business Line
The launch of our Investment Banking business 
added approximately J$300 million in Revenue in FY 
2019.

Increased Capitalization
The significant increase in Barita’s capitalization from 
the fundraising activity throughout the financial year 
supported Balance Sheet growth, which in turn sup-
ported growth in both Net Interest Income & Foreign 
Exchange and Securities Trading lines.

Customer Acquisition & Engagement
Increased customer acquisition and engagement 
driven by our strategic marketing and sales efforts 
throughout the year supported increased transac-
tional volume and value, leading to a rise in fee 
income throughout the year.
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N E T  I N T E R E S T  I N C O M E

Barita’s Net Interest Income (NII) rose by 54.2% or 
J$228.7 million YoY in FY 2019 to J$651 million, as 
interest earning assets more than doubled during 
the year. The growth in Earnings Assets was funded 
by the J$9.7 billion growth in repos and over J$10 
Billion growth in capital. Net Interest Margin (NIM) 
declined by 26 bps reflecting market conditions and 
a more conservative portfolio mix.

N O N - I N T E R E S T  I N C O M E

Non-Interest Income rose by 277.3% or J$2.5 billion YoY in FY 2019 to J$3.3 billion. The substantial rise in Non-
Interest Income was largely driven by significant improvements in Fees & Commission Income, Securities 
Trading Gains and Other Income. 

• Fees and Commission Income rose by 67.7% to J$847.3 million in FY 2019 relative to FY 2018’s result 
of J$505.2 million. The expansion in fee income was primarily driven by revenue from the newly formed 
investment banking business line which was launched in December 2018, as well as continued growth in the 
asset management business line. 

• Gain on Sale of Investments (Securities Trading) climbed sharply YoY by 1272.8% or J$1.7 billion to J$1.9 
billion in FY 2019. The significant rise was driven by increased trading activity which was supported by 
favourable market conditions throughout the year.

• Other Income rose to J$378.0 million by J$357.0 million or 1701.3% YoY in FY 2019. This substantively 
arose from the recovery of investment losses incurred by the Company.

• Foreign Exchange Trading and Translation Gains rose slightly by 6.1% or J$11.5 million YoY to J$199.4 
million in FY 2019. The rise in FX trading gains was the result of increased trading volumes throughout the 
year as realised trading gains from the Cambio totalled J$154.1 million in FY 2019 relative to J$61.7 million 
in FY 2018.
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O P E R A T I N G  E X P E N S E S

Total Operating Expenses in FY 2019 rose by 100.5% 
or J$764.5 million to J$1.5 billion from J$761.0 million 
in FY 2018. The material increase in expenses YoY 
was impacted by:

• Staff Costs rising by 43.6% or J$168.1 million 
to J$553.6 million due to the increased costs 
associated with staff retention, welfare and 
acquisition.

• Other Administrative Expenses also showed a 
significant increase, up by J$393.1 million YoY to 
J$693.6 million in FY 2019. This reflected the costs 
associated with investments in infrastructure and 
technological improvements.

• Advertising and Promotion Expenses increased 
during FY 2019 from J$31.6 million in FY 2018 
to J$92.4 million in FY 2019. The increase in 
marketing related expenses reflected our more 
aggressive rebranding efforts throughout the year 
across traditional and new marketing channels.

S T A T E M E N T  O F
F I N A N C I A L  P O S I T I O N

Barita’s Total Assets grew 117.2% to J$41.0 billion, 
relative to J$18.9 billion as at September 2018 year 
end. This was primarily driven by growth in Interest 
Earning Assets by 111.5%, which included the increase 
in Investment Securities by J$7.5 billion to J$11.0 billion 
and a J$10.7 billion increase in Resale Agreements to 
J$14.7 billion.

The growth in assets was funded by the 72.8% 
increase in Total Liabilities to J$27.3 billion and a 
345.8% increase in Shareholders Equity to J$13.7 
billion. The key drivers were the J$9.7 billion increase 
in Repurchase Agreements and the J$9.9 billion 
increase in Share Capital respectively. 

$15,816

$27,335

$18,883

$41,005
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S U B S I D I A R Y

Barita Unit Trusts Management Company 
Limited (BUTM)
BUTM is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Barita Investments 
Limited and manages The Capital Growth Fund, The 
Money Market Fund, and The Barita Multiple 
Portfolio Fund. The Multiple Portfolio Fund houses 
The Barita FX Bond, FX Growth, Income and Real 
Estate Funds.

BUTM’s revenue grew 63.9% YoY to $915.3 million up 
from J$558.5 million at the end of September 2018. 
This increase was driven primarily by a $321.1 million 
increase in Other Income to J$329.7 million and fair 
value gains of J$63.6 million. Expenses increased by 
40.2% YoY to $132.1 million up from $94.2 million at 
end September 2018. As a result, Profit After Tax grew 
by 49.6% to $513.0 million up from $342.8 million a 
year earlier.

Assets increased by 27.1% to $1.7 billion up from $1.3 
billion in FY 2019; largely attributable to the increase 
in investment portfolio. Liabilities increased by 225.5% 
to $601.5 million up from $184.8 million a year earlier, 
driven by the increase in Deferred Taxation to $289.2 
million from $17.3 million a year earlier due to higher 
fair value gains on the investment portfolio throughout 
the year. Shareholders’ Equity decreased by 5.4% to 
$1.1 billion, as dividends of $1.1 billion paid to Barita 
Investments Limited offset the Net Profit and $525.4 
million in Other Comprehensive Income.

—  J A M E S  C A S H  P E N N E Y,  J C  P E N N E Y  F O U N D E R     

“Growth is never by mere 

chance; it is the result of 

forces working together.”
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The objective of Barita’s Risk Management is to 
ensure that risk-taking activities are aligned with its 
strategy and consistent with its risk appetite. Through 
an active and effective Risk Management process, 
Barita’s Board commits to ensuring:

• The right risks are taken;
• The right amount of risk is taken;
• There is an appropriate reward for the risks being 

taken; and
• Risks that are inherent to the strategy, as well 

as those that could threaten the strategy, 
are proactively identified and appropriately 
managed.

S T R E N G T H E N I N G  T H E 
R I S K  M A N A G E M E N T 
F R A M E W O R K 

Cornerstone is actively strengthening the risk function 
across its group of companies with the appointment 
of a Chief Risk Officer, who will have oversight 
responsibility for Barita’s risk management; the 
implementation of an Enterprise Risk Management 
framework; and the development of a suite of best- 
in- class, fit- for- purpose policies and procedures to 
support the risk framework.

The Enterprise Risk Management Framework 
includes:

E N T E R P R I S E  R I S K  I D E N T I F I C A T I O N 
&  A S S E S S M E N T  

This comprises a comprehensive process to identify 
and measure Barita’s most material risks, ensuring 
that risk management activities are prioritized. 

It also governs the right risk response strategy 
depending on the inherent risks and the strength of 
the controls.

Comprehensive enterprise risk 
assessment with key business 
risk prioritized and risk profiles 

created

Risk appetite statements, 
key risk indicators, reporting 

templates, risk registers and an 
overarching ERM policy

ERM training sessions with 
management and team 

members to embed the risk-
aware culture

E N T E R P R I S E  R I S K  M A N A G E M E N T 
F R A M E W O R K

R I S K  A P P E T I T E  F R A M E W O R K

Barita’s Risk Appetite Framework (RAF) will articulate 
the amount of risk it is willing to take in order to 
meet its strategic objectives. The RAF will include 
risk tolerances, targets, measures and limits. This 
will be a key component in the cultivation of Barita’s 
risk culture and will ensure that Barita remains within 
appropriate risk boundaries, efficiently managing risk 
to find the optimal balance between risk and return.
 

R I S K  M A N A G E M E N T  T O O L S
  
This references various tools guided by the RAF 
to measure, monitor and report on risk. These 
will be regularly reviewed and updated to ensure 
effectiveness and relevance to the Barita’s business 
and financial strategies.

E N T E R P R I S E  R I S K  P O L I C Y  A N D 
G O V E R N A N C E  F R A M E W O R K 

An established risk governance structure and 
framework that outlines roles and responsibilities; 
assigns accountability; embeds risk culture; and 
provides guidelines for risk appetite review, enterprise 
risk assessment, and risk monitoring and reporting.

 

ST R O N G  A N D  P E R VA S I V E 
R I S K  C U LT U R E  

Strengthening Barita’s risk function also includes 
cultivating a strong risk culture where risk is an 
enabler to strategy. This means seeding collective 
understanding, engagement, and accountability for 
the key risks relevant to Barita’s strategic objectives 

and the corresponding risk appetite throughout the 
organization.

The culture will be supported by Barita’s risk 
governance structure. Risks will be managed within 
the framework of policies and limits that are approved 
by the Board. The Board will review key current and 
emerging risk exposures and performance, weighing 
them against approved limits and the Board’s Risk 
Appetite. This will occur at least once per quarter. 
Senior management committees will meet more 
frequently to provide oversight of the various risks, 
while the Risk function will continuously provide 
independent oversight of the significant risks of the 
Company. 

The culture will also be supported by Barita’s three-
lines of defence model. Within this model: 

• The various business lines that actively take 
these risks and the units that support them are 
the risk owners, and act as the first line of defence 
by actively managing these exposures. 

• Risk and other control functions act as the second 
line of defence by objectively challenging the 
first line; providing independent oversight over 
risk-taking activities, as well as developing and 
executing the frameworks to measure, monitor, 
report and control risk. 

• Internal Audit acts as the third line of defence by 
testing to provide assurance of the effectiveness 
of the first and second lines of defence.

Risk Management
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Liquidity Risk is the risk that Barita, although solvent, either does not have 
sufficient available resources to enable it to meet its obligations as they fall 
due or can secure them only at excessive cost resulting in financial losses, loss 
of customer confidence and regulatory penalties

Effective liquidity risk management is critical in order to maintain the confidence of 
clients and counterparties and ensure that Barita remains able to perform its core 
functions under adverse circumstances.  

Barita manages its liquidity risk by:   

• Forecasting cash inflows and outflows by currency to anticipate emerging 
liquidity needs; and will conduct regular stress tests to assess the vulnerabilities 
inherent in its balance sheet structure and the adequacy of liquidity resources 
under stressed conditions;

• Maintaining a pool of highly liquid, unencumbered assets that can be readily 
sold, or pledged to secure borrowings, under stressed conditions; 

• Managing the structure of its funding relative to its liquidity position to ensure 
that it is sufficiently diversified by term and type of client;

• Maintaining, testing and updating its Contingency Funding Plan, which outlines 
the necessary responses to varying levels and stages of stressed conditions; 
and 

• Proactively identifying, building and securing alternative sources of funding 
to ensure the adequacy of its contingency options and position itself to take 
advantage of material opportunities.

L I Q U I D I T Y  R I S K

Market risk exposures primarily come from Barita’s investment, funding, 
underwriting and trading activities. In its investment and funding activities, Barita 
primarily invests in various fixed income instruments and mainly funds these with 
repurchase agreements and capital. In its underwriting activities, Barita will from 
time to time purchase some or all the investment banking issuances it arranges 
for further distribution to its client base. In its trading activities, the Company 
primarily buys and sells currencies, equities and bonds for its customers and its 
own proprietary trading portfolios. 

These activities are controlled through the Management Investment Committee, 
which has oversight for Barita’s asset-liability management and trading processes. 
The exposures are managed through policies, processes and controls designed to 
achieve a balance between earning net interest income, pursuing profitable trading 
and investment banking opportunities; and managing the resulting exposures.
 

Market Risk is the risk of loss due to changes in market prices and rates (including 
interest rates, credit spreads, equity prices, and foreign exchange rates), the 
correlations among them, and their levels of volatility. 

P R I N C I PA L  R I S K S

M A R K E T  R I S K

Credit Risk is the risk of loss resulting from the failure of a borrower or 
counterparty to honour its financial or contractual obligations to Barita. Credit 
risk arises in Barita’s margin-lending operations, and in its investment and 
trading activities where counterparties have repayment or other obligations to 
Barita. 

The risk management function develops the programs, policies and limits that 
govern the exposure to various counterparties, and the credit quality of its assets 
whether to bond issuers, clients, or institutional counterparties. The Credit Risk 
Policy and key related limits are subject to review and approval by the Board.

C R E D I T  R I S K 

Operational Risk is the risk of loss, resulting from people, inadequate or failed 
internal processes and systems, or from external events. These events can result 
in financial loss, regulatory sanctions and reputational damage to Barita. 

Barita’s detailed Enterprise Risk Assessment process enables the identification 
of the most important risks facing the organization and ensures focus on the key 
activities necessary to manage those risks. Periodic operational meetings provide 
an avenue for the exposures to be highlighted and tracked; while key risk indicators 
assist in identifying emerging risks.

O P E R A T I O N A L 
R I S K
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People Risk refers to the likelihood that Barita does not adequately attract, 
retain and develop employees with the requisite knowledge and aptitude to 
meet the strategic needs of the organization and fill key roles as they emerge 
or become vacant. People Risk also refers to the likelihood that the culture does 
not sufficiently instill the desired performance and conduct. 

Strategic Risk is the risk that Barita makes strategic choices that are not 
sufficiently resilient to changes in the business and competitive environment; 
or that cause other material risk exposures that are not adequately identified or 
managed. This risk also includes the failure of the governance and performance 
management environment to support the execution of its strategy. 

Reputational Risk is the risk that Barita does not recognize or appropriately 
manage reputational threats as perceived by members, providers, customers, 
employees, brokers, shareholders, and other key stakeholders, which may 
result in negative publicity and inhibit the Company’s ability to perform and 
grow.

Barita is focused on building its talent pool to support its growth. In particular, there 
is a focus on ensuring the development of resources to fill key current roles, should 
they become vacant; as well as to fill roles that will emerge in future. The people 
strategy is supported by building a culture of high performance and accountability; 
this is also embedded within its appraisal and compensation structures.

The Cornerstone Group and, by extension, Barita has a robust process for strategy 
formulation and execution. This includes processes surrounding the identification 
of opportunities in the context of the competitive environment, current and 
prospective market developments, and lifestyle trends. The strategy is approved 
by the Board; and ownership and accountability for strategy implementation is 
supported by communication of the strategy to all employees and the alignment 
of strategy to individual objectives through key performance indicators. Strategy 
implementation is closely monitored and managed at the Barita and Cornerstone 
Executive levels, with quarterly updates provided to the Board. The Cornerstone 
Group has an active and engaged board, which is available on a continuous basis 
to opine on key strategic decisions.

Barita manages its Reputational Risk through its code of conduct, governance 
practices, risk management programs, and policies and procedures.  Reputational 
Risk, including the active development of Barita’s desired reputation, is also a key 
consideration in the strategy formulation process and in its day to day operation; 
particularly including its Investment Banking and Investment Advisory activities.

P E O P L E  R I S K

S T R A T E G I C  R I S K 

R E P U T A T I O N A L 
R I S K 

IT Risks arise from the technology-driven nature of Barita’s business, from online 
interfaces with clients to system capabilities to handle growing volumes. This 
includes cyber security risks, which continue to be a growing and ever-evolving 
phenomenon for financial institutions locally and worldwide.

Robust technology planning and development processes ensure that technological 
capabilities are adequate to support the strategic requirements of the organization. 
This is supported by the continuous and proactive evaluation and update of the 
security environment to minimize exposure to cyber-attacks and other current 
and potential IT security exposures. Employees and customers are consistently 
sensitized to ensure they understand current and evolving IT security risks, and to 
reinforce the desired behaviours.

IT Risk refers to the likelihood of deficiencies related to the IT environment 
including security, data governance and integrity, reliability and the necessary 
supporting infrastructure to handle business requirements.

I N F O R M A T I O N
T E C H N O L O G Y 
R I S K 
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O V E R V I E W

As a fast growing company with ambitions to be Bold, 
Smart and Game Changing, we knew we had to “level 
up” - and we did. Human Resources is central to the 
achievement of our strategic priorities for the execution 
of our MoneyIQ, BrainTrust and Talent leadership 
initiatives. Our success relies on highly-skilled and 
engaged employees who embrace the vision and 
are willing to use their talents and experience to add 
value. As such, HR is focused on acquiring the best 
and brightest talents, and executing effective staff 
engagement activities and training & development.

G R O W T H  A N D  T A L E N T  R E T E N T I O N

The Company’s expanded client base and strategic 
ambitions required a transformation in the talent 
base. During the period under review, the Company 
aggressively bolstered its human capital with the 
acquisition of 44 new employees across all levels.  
Additionally, new business units and departments 
were created to ensure alignment with the Company’s 
stated objectives.  

Recruitment at the senior level included:

Paula Barclay
G E N E R A L  M A N AG E R

Ramon Small-Ferguson
V I C E  P R E S I D E N T  O F  A S S E T  M A N AG E M E N T  A N D 

R E S E A R C H

Anmarie Walker-Cato
G R O U P  F I N A N C I A L  C O N T R O L L E R

Chad-Paul Priestly
H E A D  O F  R E TA I L  I N V E S T M E N T S

Kerrie Baylis
H E A D  O F  W E A LT H  M A N AG E M E N T

S T A F F  E N G A G E M E N T

Health and Wellness
We launched our Weight Loss Challenge on June 
13, 2019 with fi fty - two (52) participants across the 
Company. Eight (8) weeks later, participants were 
challenged to lose 15 or more pounds to become one 
of the top 10 contenders to win their share of prizes. 
The atmosphere of excitement was further enhanced 
by a Water Challenge and a Milestone Celebration to 
reward the challengers who had attained the highest 
weight loss mid-way in the competition. Our challenge 
fi nished on a high with an 80’s themed fi tness party – 
“FriYay!”, led by a Fitness Trainer. 

Our health and wellness efforts also involved our 
weekly dance and exercise classes, which staff 
members continue to utilise.

We participated in 2 major corporate events– The 
Sigma Corporate Run and Colour Me Happy which 
were well supported by the staff.

T R A I N I N G  &  D E V E L O P M E N T

The Human Resource Team remains committed to 
ensuring that our workforce receives the training 
and development necessary to strengthen core 
competencies that will allow us to deliver industry-
leading service. 

The Company partnered with the JSE, Corporate Clinic, 
Dale Carnegie, Jamaica Institute of Financial Services 

and Framework Projects and the University College 
of the Commonwealth Caribbean to deliver training 
programmes.

P R O M O T I O N S  A N D  M O V E M E N T S

At Barita, we make it our business to ensure that our 
employees are recognized for their work and their 
contribution to the company’s success. We do this by 
promoting our employees to advanced, functional 
roles that challenge them and encourage their 
development in order to create leaders and subject-
matter experts. There were over twenty (20) internal 
promotions/movements and this has led to increased 
employee morale. Barita is proud to support our 
employees on their road to personal and professional 
development. We believe in the game changing ability 
of each of our team members. 

C O N C L U S I O N

Barita is committed to the development of  a holistic 
people strategy which is aligned to the Company’s 
strategic priorities. The new fi nancial year will see the 
employment of a senior Human Resource Executive who 
will have responsibility for the continued transformation 
of the Human Resource function, underpinned by the 
entrenchment of agile thinking and leadership.
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Creating a
meaningful,
personal 
bond

Barita is building a brand committed to improving the financial wellbeing of people at every level of society. We 
see our contribution as being more than financial and actively participate in initiatives and causes that benefit 
the communities within which we operate.

We see it as not just a responsibility, but a passion to remain connected to the spaces where we can help create 
sustainable change. That’s why we are committed to our roster of charitable initiatives, while we scan the land-
scape for additional areas where we can help.

S P O N S O R S H I P S

•  Salvation Army Nest Children’s Home

•  Harbour View Football Club

•  U.W.I. Medical Students (Smoker Charity Play)

•  Renovation of Victoria Jubilee Hospital
    (Partnership with Woman’s Touch Foundation)

Corporate Social Responsibility

Barita donates bedrails to Salvation Army Nest Children’s Home

S P E C I A L  S P O N S O R S H I P S

• Tech Beach Retreat 

• Mico University College Mathematics 
Teaching Summit

• Barita Chess Open

• Corporate Mingle – Kaluga Kafe

• JDF Corporate Mingle

• Jamaica Social Stock Exchange

• Financial & Entrepreneurship Fair hosted 
by the Norman Manley International 
Airport

• Jamaica Deposit Insurance Company 
Public Forum & Financial Fair

Smoker (Charity Play) for the Falmouth Public General HospitalVictoria Jubilee Maternity Clinic

Jamaica Social Stock Exchange

Harbour View Football Club

SIGMA Corporate Run
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Events

K I N G S T O N  P R E M I U M  E V E N T M A N D E V I L L E  P R E M I U M  E V E N T

For Barita, events are not just social occasions; they are opportunities for us to build meaningful relationships 
with our clients. As we grow and evolve, we look forward to involving our clients at every step. So when Barita 
hosted three cocktail events in Kingston, Mandeville and Montego Bay, we chose the theme “Barita, the Game 
Changer” to let our clients into our plans, and to set off an exciting, beyond-the-ordinary series of experiences.  
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A N N U A L  G E N E R A L  M E E T I N G

Terra Nova Hotel | March 21, 2019

Courtyard Marriott | July 26, 2019
Barita Investments held its second Extraordinary 
General Meeting for 2019.  Funds generated from the 
second rights issue will be used to pursue several 
initiatives, including a buildout of investment banking 
operations and expansion of our branch network.

E X T R A O R D I N A R Y
G E N E R A L  M E E T I N G

Terra Nova Hotel | January 17, 2019
Barita Investments held an Extraordinary General 
Meeting on January 17, 2019 and passed the Resolution 
to issue up to 262,280,484 ordinary shares as a 
Rights Issue to Stockholders and gave the power to 
the directors to set the other terms.

M O N T E G O  B A Y  P R E M I U M  E V E N T
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Directors’ Report  

The Directors present their Report and the audited Financial Statements for the year ended
September 30, 2019.

Financial Results
Full details of our results are set out in pages 97-180. We however highlight the following:

Company Secretary
The Company Secretary is Ms. Malindo Wallace. 

Auditors
Messrs. BDO have signifi ed their willingness to contin-
ue in offi ce as Auditors in accordance with the provisions 
of Section 154(2) of the Companies Act.

Dividends
The following dividends were paid during the year:
•  $0.82c per ordinary stock unit was paid in April 2019
•  $1.267c per ordinary stock unit was paid in October 

2019

Retiring Directors
Mr. Duncan Stewart
Mr. Robert Drummond
Mr. Phillip Lee
Mr. Jason Chambers
Mr. Matthew Hogarth

Profi t before Income Tax

Profi t after Tax

J$2.5 Billion

J$1.7 Billion

Malindo Wallace
Company Secretary

By Order of the Board,
January 27, 2020

Signed  __________________________________

—  B A R I T A

You don’t turn “money” 
into real wealth without 
breaking new ground and 
making bold, brilliant 
moves.
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Financial
Statements
30 September 2019

90
Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members 

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Statement of Profi t or Loss and Other 

Comprehensive Income 

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Statement of Financial Position

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Statement of Changes in Equity

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Statement of Cash Flows

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Notes to the Financial Statements



91 |  BARITA INVESTMENTS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2019 BARITA INVESTMENTS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2019 |  92

97-180
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 Page 7 
 BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 
 YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
         
 Note 2019              2018  
 $’000     $’000     
 
   Net interest income   650,999 422,288  

Fees and commission income   847,372 505,210  
Dividend income  30,670 31,779   

 Foreign exchange trading and translation gains   199,404 187,945 
 Gain on sale of investments   1,873,298 136,454  
 Other      378,031      20,987  
  

 Net operating revenue   3,979,774 1,304,663  
 
Operating Expenses    
 Staff costs 7 (   553,550) (   385,410)  
 Administration costs   (   896,738) (   375,566)  
 Impairment of financial assets  (     75,162)          -        
 
  8 (1,525,450) (   760,976)  
  
Profit before Taxation   2,454,324 543,687  
Taxation  9 (    741,543) (   180,446)  
 
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  10 1,712,781    363,241 
   
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME: 
Items that may subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss 
Realised gains on securities at FVOCI 
      /available for sale securities 9 600,202   759,108 
 
ECL adjustment on securities FVOCI  81,743   -       
 
Unrealised losses on securities at FVOCI 
     /available for sale securities 9 (  470,267)  (   435,360)  
 
Fair value gain on property, plant and equipment, net of taxes        18,333        -        
 
Total other comprehensive income     230,011     323,748 
 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  1,942,792    686,989  
 
BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE  16        $2.42        $0.56 
 

Year ended 30 September 2019

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended 30 September 2019

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
 

YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
       
  Capital  
 Share  Treasury Capital  Fair Value  Redemption    Retained 
 Capital Shares  Reserve  Reserve   Reserve      Earnings  Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

BALANCE AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2017 745,494 (   9,190)   93,133    604,884 220,127 1,121,464 2,775,912 
 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
Profit for the year -       -      -     -      -       363,241 363,241 
Other comprehensive income      -             -             -       323,748      -              -           323,748 

      -            -             -       323,748      -         363,241     686,989 
 
TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS 
Treasury shares sold       -          4,123           -       (      4,123)      -      -       -       
Gain from treasury shares       -           -         -            (    13,812)      -      13,812 -       
Dividends paid (Note 27)      -            -          -             -           -      (   133,763) (   133,763)  
Dividends proposed (Note 27)       -             -            -             -           -      (   263,067) (   263,067)  
       -          4,123       -      (    17,935)       -      (   383,018) (   396,830) 

 
BALANCE AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2018 745,494 (    5,067)   93,133   910,697 220,127 1,101,687 3,066,071 
 
Effects of change in accounting policy 
 (IFRS 9 Financial instrument)        -             -            -      (  437,127)      -         435,039 (      2,088) 
 
BALANCE AT 1 OCTOBER 2018   745,494   (    5,067)   93,133   473,570 220,127 1,536,726 3,063,983  
 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
Profit for the year -       -      -     -      -       1,712,781 1,712,781 
Other comprehensive income         -             -        18,333   211,678      -              -           230,011 

         -            -        18,333   211,678      -      1,712,781  1,942,792 
TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS 
Issue of shares, net of transaction cost        9,142,186     -           -        -           -      -       9,142,186  
Preference shares  1,000,000 -      -        -      -      -       1,000,000 
Treasury shares sold      -      (183,232)         -             -           -      -       (    183,232)   
Dividends paid (Note 27)      -            -          -             -           -      (   399,216) (    399,216)  
Dividends proposed (Note 27)          -            -           -             -           -      (   897,235) (    897,235)   
 10,142,186 (183,232)      -             -           -      (1,296,451)   8,662,503 
 
BALANCE AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2019 10,887,680 (188,299) 111,466   685,248 220,127 1,953,056 13,669,278

Year ended 30 September 2019

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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 BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
 
 YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2019           
  
 Note 2019             2018  
 $’000     $’000     
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: 
   Net profit   1,712,781 363,241 
   Items not affecting cash resources: 

Depreciation and amortization   33,076 58,830 
Effect of exchange gain on foreign balances  42,941 (   125,336) 
Impairment of available-for-sale investments  -       (          150)  
Unrealised gain on investment FVTPL  (    120,832) -       
Interest income  ( 1,532,154) (1,021,945) 
Interest expense  881,155 599,657 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment   733 9,678 
Taxation expense  9      741,543    180,446
  1,759,243 64,421 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 
Investment securities including pledged assets, net  (   8,929,521) (1,986,497) 
Securities purchased under resale agreements, net  (  10,728,531) (   516,199) 
Securities sold under repurchase agreements, net  10,448,911 2,048,852 
Receivables  (     305,109) 267,648 
Loans receivables, net   (     348,782) (     36,414) 
Payables       27,805 (     31,988) 
Related companies   (  1,484,235)        8,205
  
   9,560,219 (   181,972)  

Interest received  1,525,608 1,016,422 
Interest paid  (     870,481) (   612,652) 
Income tax paid   (     132,409) (   176,692) 
Cash (used in)/provided by operating activities  (  9,037,501)      45,106  
 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES: 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment   18 (     122,199) (       3,879) 
Purchase of intangible asset 19 (       30,794) (     13,697)   
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment          12,501         -      
Cash used in investing activities   (     140,492) (     17,576)
    

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:   
    Dividends paid  (     399,216) (    114,117)    

Issued ordinary shares   9,142,186 -      
    Treasury shares purchased    (     183,232) -      
    Issued preference shares    1,000,000          -      
 
Cash provided by/(used in) financing activities     9,559,738 (    114,117) 
 
Effect of exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents              982         6,177  
 
Increase in net cash and equivalents       382,727 (      80,410) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year      333,374     413,784 
 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR    11     716,101     333,374

Year ended 30 September 2019

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow
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 BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
 STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 
 YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
         
 Note 2019              2018  
 $’000     $’000     
 
   Net interest income   602,295 378,463  

Fees and commission income   420,702 69,956  
Dividend income  1,126,045 26,768   

 Foreign exchange trading and translation gains   230,990 154,508 
 Gain on sale of investments   1,826,680 99,110  
 Other         5,365      17,698  
  

 Net operating revenue   4,212,077     746,503  
 
Operating Expenses    
 Staff costs 7 (   508,026) (   327,521)  
 Administration costs   (   857,371) (   339,640)  
 Impairment of financial assets   (     60,162)          -       

  8 (1,425,559) (   667,161)  
 
Profit before Taxation   2,786,518 79,342  
Taxation  9 (   471,302) (     58,924)  
 
Profit for the Year  10 2,315,216     20,418  
 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME: 
Items that may subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss   
Realised gains on securities at FVOCI 
  /available for sale securities 9 550,427     790,656 
 
Unrealised losses on securities at FVOCI  
  /available for sale securities 9 (   470,267) (   432,521)  
 
Fair value gain on property, plant and equipment, net of taxes  9     18,333         -       
 
ECL adjustment on securities FVOCI        71,628        -        
 
      170,121    358,135  
 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME   2,485,337    378,553  
 
 
 
 
  

Year ended 30 September 2019

Statement of Profit or Loss and other Comprehensive Income
Year ended 30 September 2019

Statement of Financial Position
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 BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
 STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
 
 YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2019           
   
 Note  2019             2018  
 $’000     $’000     
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: 
   Net profit   2,315,216 20,418 
   Items not affecting cash resources: 

Depreciation and amortization  32,913 57,682 
Effect of exchange gain on foreign balances  (         1,673) (     92,724) 
Unrealised gain on investment FVTPL  (     103,645) -       
Interest income  (  1,483,450) (   978,120) 
Interest expense  881,155 599,657 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment   655 5,064  
Income tax expense  9      471,302      58,924 
  2,112,473 (    329,099) 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 
Marketable securities including pledged assets, net  (  8,754,160) (1,780,369)  
Securities purchased under resale agreements, net  (10,728,531) (   516,199) 
Securities sold under repurchase agreements, net  9,646,285 2,077,410 
Receivables  (     324,382) 267,648 
Loans receivables, net   (     348,782) (     36,414) 
Payables  87,396 (     24,588) 
Related companies, net   (  1,512,850) (       1,506) 
 
  (  9,822,551) (   343,117)  

Interest received  1,465,083 977,117 
Interest paid  (     870,481) (   612,652) 
Taxation paid   (       25,452) (     24,407) 
 
Cash used in operating activities  (  9,253,401) (       3,059)  

 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES: 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment   18 (    122,170) (       2,880) 
Purchase of intangible asset 19 (      30,794) (     13,697)  
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment         12,501         -      
Cash used in investing activities   (    140,463) (     16,577) 
 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:   
    Dividends paid  (    414,665) (    114,117) 
    Issued ordinary shares   9,142,186 -      
    Issued preference shares    1,000,000          -      
    Cash provided by/(used in) financing activities     9,727,521 (    114,117) 
 
Effect of exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents   (            100)       4,346  
 
Increase in net cash and equivalents        333,557 (    129,407) 
Net cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year       247,178     376,585 
 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR    11      580,735     247,178
   

Year ended 30 September 2019

Statement of Cash Flows
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
 STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

 
YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2019 

        
 Capital  
 Share  Capital  Fair Value  Redemption    Retained 

 Capital Reserve  Reserve Reserve      Earnings  Total 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

BALANCE AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2017  745,494 154,988   537,195 313,590    330,401   2,081,668 
 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME   
Profit for the year       -      -       -      -      20,418      20,418  
Other comprehensive income          -            -        358,135      -                  -           358,135 

             -            -        358,135        -           20,418       378,553  
TRANSACTION WITH OWNERS  
Dividends paid (Note 27)             -           -           -            -      (   133,763) (    133,763) 
Dividends proposed (Note 27)             -           -             -            -      (   263,067) (    263,067) 
         -           -             -            -      (   396,830) (    396,830) 
   
BALANCE AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2018   745,494  154,988    895,330 313,590 (     46,011) 2,063,391 
Effects of change in accounting policy (IFRS 9 
  Financial Instruments)          -            -      (  375,340)      -            386,609       11,269 
 
BALANCE AT 1 OCTOBER 2018   745,494  154,988      519,990 313,590    340,598   2,074,660 
 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME   
Profit for the year       -      -       -      -      2,315,216   2,315,216  
Other comprehensive income          -        18,333   151,788      -                 -           170,121 

             -        18,333   151,788        -      2,315,216    2,485,337  
TRANSACTION WITH OWNERS  
Issue of shares, net of transaction cost (Note 27)      9,142,186           -           -            -      -         9,142,186 
Preference share   1,000,000 -      -       -      -      1,000,000 
Dividends paid (Note 27)             -           -           -            -      (   414,665) (    414,665) 
Dividends proposed (Note 27)                 -           -             -            -      (   897,235) (    897,235) 
 
  10,142,186       -             -            -      (1,311,900)   8,830,286 
   
BALANCE AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2019  10,887,680  173,321    671,778 313,590 1,343,914 13,390,283 
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
               30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
    
1. IDENTIFICATION, REGULATION AND LICENCE:  
 

Barita Investments Limited (Barita, the company) is a limited liability company incorporated and 
domiciled in Jamaica. The registered office of the company is 15 St. Lucia Way, Kingston 5. 
 
The company is a licensed securities dealer and has primary dealer status from the Bank of Jamaica 
(BOJ). It is licensed under the Securities Act and regulated by the Financial Services Commission 
(FSC). The company’s ordinary shares are listed on the Jamaica Stock Exchange (JSE). 
 
On 24 August 2018, Cornerstone Investments Holdings Limited acquired 75% of the equity in Barita 
Investments Limited financed via a private placement of a bond arranged by Sagicor investments 
Jamaica Limited and equity capital from Cornerstone Investments Holdings Limited shareholders.  
 
The principal activities of the company and its wholly owned subsidiary, Barita Unit Trusts 
Management Company Limited (BUTM) (collectively referred to as “the Group’) are stocks and 
securities brokerage, money market activities, cambio operations and funds management. 
 

2.         REPORTING CURRENCY: 
 

Items included in the financial statements of the group are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the group operates (‘the functional currency’).  These 
financial statements are presented in Jamaican dollars, which is considered the group’s functional 
and presentation currency. 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:   
 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set 
out below.  These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless 
otherwise stated.  Amounts are rounded to the nearest thousand unless otherwise stated.  

 
(a) Basis of preparation  
 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with international Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and have been prepared under the historical cost convention as 
modified by the revaluation of fair value through other comprehensive income and fair 
value through profit or loss investment securities, and certain items of property, plant and 
equipment. They are also prepared in accordance with requirements of the Jamaican 
Companies Act. 

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain 
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the 
process of applying the group’s accounting policies. Although these estimates are based on 
management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results could differ 
from these estimates. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or 
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant for the financial statements are 
disclosed in Note 4. 

  
 

Year ended 30 September 2019
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

 
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):   
 

(a) Basis of preparation (cont’d) 
 
New, revised and amended standards and interpretations that became effective during 
the year 

 
Certain new standards and interpretations of and amendments to existing standards have 
been published that became effective during the current financial year. The group has 
assessed the relevance of all such new standards, interpretations and amendments and has 
concluded that the following new standards, interpretations and amendments are relevant 
to its operations 
 
In these financial statements, the group adopted IFRS 9, Financial Instruments and IFRS 15, 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers with a transitional date of 1 October 2018. These 
standards were applied on a retrospective basis, with certain exceptions. As permitted, the 
group did not restate its prior period comparative financial statements. 
 
The nature and the impact of the new standards and amendments is described below: 

IFRS 9, ‘Financial Instruments’, (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2018). IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39 as at 1 January 2018. The group has not restated 
comparative information for 2018 for financial instruments in the scope of IFRS 9. 
Therefore, the comparative information for 2018 is reported under IAS 39 and is not 
comparable to the information presented for 2019.  

Changes to classification and measurement  
 

To determine their classification and measurement category, IFRS 9 requires all financial 
assets, except equity instruments and derivatives, to be assessed based on a combination 
of the entity’s business model for managing the assets and the instruments’ contractual 
cash flow characteristics. The IAS 39 measurement categories of financial assets (fair 
value through profit or loss (FVPL), available for sale (AFS), held-to-maturity and loans 
and receivables at amortised cost) have been replaced by: 

-  Amortised cost  
- Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 
- Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) 

 
The accounting for financial liabilities remains largely the same as it was under IAS 39, 
except for the treatment of gains or losses arising from an entity’s own credit risk 
relating to liabilities designated at FVPL. Such movements are presented in OCI with no 
subsequent reclassification to the income statement. 

 
 

Year ended 30 September 2019

Notes to the Financial Statements
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):   
 

(a) Basis of preparation (cont’d) 
 
New, revised and amended standards and interpretations that became effective during 
the year (cont’d) 

 
IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (cont’d) 

 
Changes to the impairment calculation 

 
The adoption of IFRS 9 has fundamentally changed the group’s accounting for doubtful 
debt provision by replacing IAS 39’s incurred loss approach with a forward-looking 
expected credit loss (ECL) approach. IFRS 9 requires the company to record an allowance 
for ECLs for trade receivables. The allowance is based on the ECLs associated probability 
of default in the next twelve months, unless there has been a significant increase in 
credit risk since origination. If the financial asset meets the definition of purchased or 
originated credit impaired (POCI), the allowance is based on the change in ECLs over the 
life of the asset.  

 
Lifetime ECL measurement applies if the credit risk of a financial asset at the reporting date 
has increased significantly since initial recognition and 12-month ECL measurement applies 
if it has not. An entity may determine that a financial asset’s credit risk has not increased 
significantly if the asset has low credit risk at the reporting date. However, lifetime ECL 
measurement always applies for short-term receivables without a significant financing 
component. 

 
Changes in accounting policies resulting from adoption will be applied retrospectively as at 
1 October 2018, but with no restatement of comparative information for prior years. 
Consequently, the group will recognize any adjustments to the carrying amounts of financial 
assets between IAS 39 and IFRS 9 in the opening retained earnings or other components of 
equity. Refer to note 28 for details.  

 
IFRS  15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

 
The group adopted IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers from 1 October 2018. 
The standard established a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much 
and when revenue is recognized. It replaces existing revenue recognition guidance, 
including IAS 18, Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts and IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty 
Programmes. 

 
The group will apply a five-step model to determine when to recognize revenue, and at 
what amount. The model specifies that revenue should be recognised when (or as) an entity 
transfers control of goods or services to a customer at the amount to which the entity 
expects to be entitled. Depending on whether certain criteria are met, revenue is 
recognised at a point in time, when control of goods or services is transferred to the 
customer; or over time, in a manner that best reflects the entity’s performance. 

Year ended 30 September 2019

Notes to the Financial Statements
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):   
 

(a) Basis of preparation (cont’d) 
 

New standards, amendments and interpretation that become effective during the year  
(cont’d) 

 
IFRS  15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (cont’d) 

 
Management has assessed that the main impact of this standard is in respect of fees and 
commission income. Based on review, IFRS 15 did not have a material impact on the timing 
and recognition of fees and commission income. 

 
IFRIC 22, ‘Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration’ (effective for 
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018). This IFRIC addresses foreign 
currency transactions or parts of transactions where there is consideration that is 
denominated or priced in a foreign currency. The interpretation provides guidance for 
when a single payment/receipt is made as well as for situations where multiple 
payments/receipts are made. The guidance aims to reduce diversity in practice. It does 
not apply when an entity measures the related asset, expense or income on initial 
recognition of the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability. Also, the interpretation 
need not be applied to income taxes, insurance contracts or reinsurance contracts. The 
group has assessed the impact of the amendment and concluded that there is no impact.  
 

New standards, amendments and interpretation not yet effective and not early adopted  
 

IFRIC 23’ Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments’, (effective for accounting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2019). This interpretation clarifies how to apply the 
recognition and measurements requirements in IAS 12 when there is uncertainty over 
income tax treatments. In such a circumstance, an entity shall recognize and measure its 
current or deferred tax asset or liability applying the requirements in IAS 12 based on 
taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates 
determined in applying this interpretation. The group is currently assessing the impact of 
this amendment. 

 
IFRS 16, 'Leases', (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2019). The standard primarily addresses the accounting for leases by lessees. The 
standard will result in almost all leases being recognised on the statement of financial 
position, as it removes the current distinction between operating and finance leases and 
requires recognition of an asset (the right to use the leased item) and a financial liability 
to pay rentals for virtually all lease contracts. An optional exemption exists for short 
term and low-value leases. The accounting by lessors will not significantly change.  

 
 
 

Year ended 30 September 2019

Notes to the Financial Statements
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):   
 

(b) Basis of consolidation  
 
 Subsidiaries are all entities over which the group has control. The group controls an entity 

when the group is exposed to, or has right to, variable returns from its involvement with 
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through power over the entity. 
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the 
group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. The subsidiary 
consolidated is Barita Unit Trusts Management Company Limited which is owned 100%. 

 
 Acquisitions from third parties 
 

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the group and 
are no longer consolidated from the date that control ceases. The group uses the 
acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations. The consideration 
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair value of the assets transferred, the 
liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the group. The consideration 
transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent 
consideration arrangement. Acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination 
are measured initially at their fair value at the acquisition date.  On an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis, the group recognizes any non-controlling interest in the acquirees either 
at fair value or at the non-controlling interests proportionate share of the acquirees net 
assets.  
 

 Acquisitions involving entities under common control  
 

 The predecessor method of accounting is used to account for acquisitions involving entities 
under common control, as such acquisitions are outside of the scope of IFRS 3. Under the 
predecessor method of accounting, the acquiring entity consolidates the results and net 
assets of the acquired entity either from the date of acquisition, or as if the acquisition had 
always taken place, and the current structure had always been in existence. In electing to 
utilize the latter option, the prior year’s comparatives are restated. 
 
In applying the predecessor method, the purchase consideration for the acquisition is 
eliminated against the book value of net assets acquired (adjusted for inconsistencies in 
accounting policies) with any resulting difference being dealt with as an adjustment to 
equity. There is no goodwill created, nor is there any negative goodwill recognized.  

 
 The group has elected to treat all such acquisitions as if the acquisition had taken place in 

previous years. 
 

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group 
companies are eliminated; unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the cost cannot be 
recovered. The accounting policies of the subsidiary are consistent with those adopted by 
the group.  

Year ended 30 September 2019

Notes to the Financial Statements
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):   

 
(c) Segment reporting  

 
A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or 
services that are subject to risks and returns that are different from those of other business 
segments.  Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with internal reporting 
to the group’s chief operating decision maker. 

 
(d) Foreign currency translation  

 
Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the exchange rates prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions. 
 
Monetary items denominated in foreign currency are translated to Jamaican dollars using 
the closing rate as at the reporting date. 
 
Exchange differences arising from the settlement of transactions at rates different from 
those at the dates of the transactions and unrealized foreign exchange differences on 
unsettled foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are recognized in profit or loss.  
Translation differences on non-monetary financial instruments, such as equities classified 
as available-for-sale financial assets, are recognized in other comprehensive income. 
 

(e) Financial instruments  
 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to both a financial asset  in one entity 
and a financial liability or equity of another entity.  
 

  Policy applicable after 1 October 2018 
 
Financial assets  
 
(i) Classification 

 
From 1 October 2018, the group classifies its financial assets in the following 
measurement categories: 
 
 At fair value (either through OCI or through profit or loss); and  
 At amortised cost 

 
The classification is based on the group’s business model for managing the financial 
assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows. 

 
For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses are recorded in profit or loss or 
OCI. 

 
The group will reclassify debt investments when and only when its business model 
for managing those assets changes.  

Year ended 30 September 2019

Notes to the Financial Statements
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
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30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):    
 

(e) Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 

  Policy applicable after 1 October 2018 (cont’d) 
 
Financial assets (cont’d) 
 
(ii) Recognition and derecognition 

 
Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the date at which the 
group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument, i.e. the 
date they originated. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive 
cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the 
group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 

 
(iii) Measurement  

 
At initial recognition, the group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in 
the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial 
assets. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit 
or loss.  
 
Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirely when 
determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest. 
 
Debt instruments  
 
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the group’s business 
model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There 
are three measurement categories into which the group classifies its debt 
instruments: 
 
 Amortised cost – Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows 

where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are 
measured at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial assets is 
included in finance income using the effective interest  rate method. Any gains 
or loss arising on derecognition is recognized directly in profit or loss and 
presented in other gains/(losses) together with foreign exchange gains and 
losses. Impairment losses are presented as separate line item in the statement 
of comprehensive income.  
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 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):    
 

(e) Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 

  Policy applicable after 1 October 2018 (cont’d) 
 
Financial assets (cont’d) 
 
(iii) Measurement (cont’d) 

 
Debt instruments  
 
 FVOCI – Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for 

selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely 
payments of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movement in the 
carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of 
impairment gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains and 
losses which are recognized in profit or loss. When the financial  asset is 
derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in OCI is 
reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognized in other gains/(losses). 
Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance income using 
the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are 
presented in other gains/(losses) and impairment expenses are presented as 
separate line item in the statement of comprehensive income.  

 
 FVPL – Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are 

measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently 
measured at FVPL is recognized in profit or loss and presented net within other 
gains/(losses) in the period in which it arises. 

 
 Equity instruments  

 
The group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the 
group’s management has elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity 
investments in OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair gains and losses 
to profit or loss following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such 
investments continue to be recognized in profit or loss when the group’s right to 
receive payment is established.  
 
Changes in fair value of financial assets at FVPL are recognized in gains/(losses) in 
the profit or loss statement as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of 
impairment losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI are not reported 
separately from other changes in fair value.  
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):    
 

(e) Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 

  Policy applicable after 1 October 2018 (cont’d) 
 
Financial assets (cont’d) 
 
(iv) Impairment 

 
From 1 October 2018, the group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected 
credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost and 
FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk. 

 
  Policy applicable before 1 October 2018 

 
Financial assets  
 
(i) Classification  

 
The group classifies its financial assets in the following categories:  loans and 
receivables and available-for-sale.  The classification depends on the purpose for 
which the financial assets were acquired.  Management determines the 
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition and re-evaluates this 
designation at every reporting date. 

 
Loans and receivables 
 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active market.  They arise principally through 
the provision of goods and services to customers (e.g. trade receivables) but also 
incorporate other types of contractual monetary asset.  

 
The group’s loans and receivables comprise trade and other receivables and cash 
and cash equivalents.    

 
Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the statement of financial position at cost. 
For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise 
cash at bank and in hand and short term deposits with original maturity of three 
months or less, and bank overdraft. 
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 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):    
 
(e) Financial instruments (cont’d) 

 
  Policy applicable before 1 October 2018 (cont’d) 

 
Financial assets (cont’d) 
 
(i) Classification (cont’d) 

 
Available-for-sale financial assets 

 
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either 
designated in this category or not classified in any of the other categories.  
Investments intended to be held for an indefinite period of time, which may be sold 
in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, are classified as 
available-for-sale. 

 
(ii) Recognition and Measurement 
 

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade-date – 
the date on which the group commits to purchase or sell the asset.  Financial assets 
are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets 
not carried at fair value through profit or loss.  Financial assets are derecognized 
when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have 
been transferred and the group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of 
ownership.  Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently carried at fair 
value, with fair value gains or losses being recorded in other comprehensive 
income.  Loans and receivables are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less provision for impairment. 

 
Translation differences and changes in the fair value of non-monetary securities 
classified as available for sale are recognized in other comprehensive income. 
 
When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold or impaired, the 
accumulated fair value adjustments previously recognized as other comprehensive 
income are recycled to profit or loss. 
 
Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognized in profit or loss as 
part of other operating income when the group’s right to receive payments is 
established. 
 
The group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that 
a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired.   
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 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):    
 
(e) Financial instruments (cont’d) 

 
  Policy applicable before 1 October 2018 (cont’d) 

 
Financial assets (cont’d) 
 
(ii) Recognition and Measurement (cont’d) 

 
For loans and receivables impairment provisions are recognized when there is 
objective evidence that the group will not collect all of the amounts due under the 
terms receivable.  The amount of the provision is the difference between the net 
carrying amount and the present value of the future expected cash flows associated 
with the impaired receivable. For trade receivables which are reported net, such 
provisions are recorded in a separate allowance account with the loss being 
recognized in profit or loss.  On confirmation that the trade receivable is 
uncollectible, it is written off against the associated allowance.  Subsequent 
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss. 
 
In the case of equity securities classified as available for sale, a significant or 
prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered as an 
indicator that the securities are impaired.  If any such evidence exists, the 
cumulative loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the 
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously 
recognized in profit or loss – is removed from other comprehensive income and 
recognized in profit or loss.  Impairment losses recognized in profit or loss on equity 
instruments are not reversed through profit or loss.   

 
  Financial liabilities  
 

The group’s financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, 
and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  At 
the reporting date, the following items were classified as financial liabilities: securities sold 
under repurchase agreements, bank overdraft, due to related company and trade payables. 

 
(f) Revenue recognition  

   
  Interest income 

 
Interest income and expense are recognized in profit or loss for all interest bearing 
instruments on an accrual basis using the effective interest method. Interest income 
includes coupons earned on fixed income investments and accrued discounts or premiums 
on treasury bills and other discounted instruments. 
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 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):    
 

(f) Revenue recognition (cont’d) 
   
  Fees and commission income  
 

Fees and commission income are recognized on an accrual basis when the service has been 
provided. Commission and fees arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation 
of a transaction for a third party are recognized on completion of the underlying 
transaction. 

 
 Dividend income  

 
  Dividends are recognized when the right to receive payments is established.   
   

 Gain or loss on sale of investment  
 

Gain or loss on the disposal or maturity of investments, is determined by comparing sale 
proceeds with the carrying amount of the investment. The amount is recognized in profit or 
loss for the year. 

 
When investment securities are disposed of the related accumulated unrealised gains or 
losses included in the fair value reserve are recognized by recycling those gains or losses 
through other comprehensive income. 

 
 (g) Current and deferred income taxes  
 

Taxation expense in profit or loss comprises current and deferred tax charges.  
 

Current tax charges are based on taxable profits for the year, which differ from the profit 
before tax reported because taxable profits exclude items that are taxable or deductible in 
other years, and items that are never taxable or deductible.  The company’s liability for 
current tax is calculated at tax rates that have been enacted at the reporting date. 
 
Deferred tax is the tax that is expected to be paid or recovered on differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and the corresponding tax bases.  Deferred income 
tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial 
statements.  Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantially enacted by the reporting date and are expected to apply when the related 
deferred income tax asset is realized or the deferred income tax liability is settled. 

 
Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized. 
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):    
 
 (g) Current and deferred income taxes (cont’d) 
 

Deferred tax is charged or credited to profit or loss, except where it relates to items 
charged or credited to other comprehensive income or equity, in which case deferred tax is 
also dealt with in other comprehensive income or equity. 

 
(h) Property plant and equipment 

  
Items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at historical or deemed cost, 
less accumulated depreciation.  Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the items. 

 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate 
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated 
with the item will flow to the company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 
The carrying amount of any replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and 
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which they are 
incurred. 

 
Freehold land and buildings are subsequently carried at fair value, based on periodic 
valuations by a professionally qualified valuer. These revaluations are made with sufficient 
regularity to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from that which 
would be determined using fair value at the end of the reporting period. Changes in fair 
value are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the capital reserve 
except to the extent that any decrease in value in excess of the credit balance on the 
capital reserve, or reversal of such a transaction, is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Depreciation is calculated on the straight line basis at such rates as will write off the 
carrying value of the assets over the period of their expected useful lives.  Land is not 
depreciated.  The expected useful lives of the other property, plant and equipment are as 
follows: 
 
 Buildings      40 years 
 Office furniture, machines and equipment 10 years 
 Computer equipment        3 years 
 Motor vehicles         5 years 
 
Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment are determined by reference 
to their carrying amounts and are taken into account in determining profit or loss. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):    
  

(h) Property plant and equipment (cont’d) 
  

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, at 
each reporting date. 

 
 (i)  Receivables  
 

Receivables are carried at anticipated realizable value less provision for impairment of 
these receivables. A provision for impairment of receivables is established when there is 
objective evidence that the group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to 
the original terms of the receivables.  

 
(j)  Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements  

 
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase (repurchase agreements) and securities 
purchased under agreements to resell (reverse repurchase agreements) are treated as 
collateralized financing transactions. 
 
The difference between the sale/purchase and repurchase/resale price is treated as 
interest and accrued over the life of the repurchase agreements using the effective yield 
method.  

 
Securities purchased under agreements to resell and sold under agreements to repurchase 
are carried on the statement of financial position at amortised cost. 

 
(k) Payables  

 
Payables are initially recognized at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost. 

 
 (l)  Fiduciary activities  
 

The group commonly acts as a trustee and in other fiduciary capacities that result in the 
holding or placing of assets on behalf of individuals, trusts and other institutions. These 
assets and income arising thereon are excluded from these financial statements as they are 
not assets of the group.  
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 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):    
 
 (m) Employee benefits 
 

Defined contribution plans 
 
The group maintains a pension plan for its eligible employees and agents. The pension plan is 
a defined contribution plan, the assets of which are held in a separate trustee administered 
fund. The plan is generally funded by basic employee contributions of 5% of pensionable 
salary and voluntary contributions up to a maximum of an additional 5%. This is matched by 
the group, once the group’s contributions have been paid the group has no further payment 
obligations. The group contributions to the plan are charged to profit or loss in the year to 
which they relate.    

 
Other  
 
Other employee benefits that are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the 
end of the reporting period are presented as current liabilities. 
 
Other employee benefits that are not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after 
the end of the reporting period are presented as non-current liabilities and calculated using 
the projected unit credit method and then discounted using yields available on high quality 
corporate bonds that have maturity dates approximating to the expected remaining period to 
settlement. 

 
 (n) Intangible assets  
 

Intangible asset which represents computer software is deemed to have a finite useful life of 
three years and is measured at cost, less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses, if any. 
 

(o)  Related party balances and transactions  
 

Parties are considered to be related if directly, or indirectly through one or more 
intermediaries, the party controls, is controlled by or is under common control with the 
entity (this includes parents, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries) has significant influence 
over the entity or has joint control over the entity. Related party balance and transactions 
are disclosed for the following: 
 

  (i)  Enterprise and individuals owning, directly or indirectly, an interest in voting power 
of the group and /or having significant influence over the Group’s affairs and close 
members of the family of these individuals.  

 
  (ii)  Key management personnel, that is those persons having authority and responsibility 

for planning directing and controlling the activities of the group, including directors, 
officers and close members of the families of these individuals.  
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30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):    
 

(p) Impairment of non-current assets  
 

Property, plant and equipment and other non-current assets are reviewed for impairment 
losses whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may 
not be recoverable.  An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the carrying 
amount of the assets exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the greater of an asset’s net 
selling price and value in use.  For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at 
the lowest level for which, there are separately identified cash flows.  Non-financial assets 
other than goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the 
impairment at each reporting date. 

 
(q) Dividend distribution  

 
Dividend distribution to the company’s shareholders is recognized as a liability in the 
company’s financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the 
company’s shareholders. 

 
Dividends for the year that are declared after the reporting date are dealt with in the 
subsequent events note. 

 
4.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES: 
 

Judgement and estimates are continually evaluated and based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectation of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 
 
(a) Critical judgement in applying the Group’s accounting policies  

 
In the process of applying the group’s accounting policies, management has made the 
following judgement that could cause a significant impact on the amounts recognized in the 
financial statements. 

 
Determination of whether or not Barita Unit Trust Management Company Limited and the 
Group act as principal or agent in the management of various unit trusts. 

 
IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, which was adopted by the group on 1 October 
2016, resulted in the group assessing its relationship (to determine whether it acts as 
principal or agent) with the various unit trusts which it manages. Consistent with the 
application guidance of IFRS 10, the group considered the following criteria in making 
determination. 

 
(i)   The scope of the fund manager’s authority; 
(ii)  The rights of others in management of the fund in particular the right to 

unilaterally remove the fund manager, without cause; 
(iii)  The group’s remuneration and exposure to variability of returns, in relation to its  
 holdings in the various unit trusts; and  
(iv) The group’s ability to use its power to affect the returns made by the units 

trusts. 
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

 
4.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (CONT’D): 

 
(a) Critical judgement in applying the Group’s accounting policies (cont’d) 
 

The group considered that all criteria had to be substantively met in order for the group to be 
considered a principal, thereby requiring consolidation of the unit trusts. 

 
The group concluded that criteria (i) and (iv) above were met. 

 
In assessing criterion (ii), the group concluded that Trustees of the unit trusts, Jamaica 
Central Securities Depository Trustee Services Limited (JCSDTS) under the Trust Deeds, had 
sufficient rights to remove them as fund managers. In assessing criterion (iii), the group also 
concluded that its remuneration for its services were consistent in nature and amount, for 
services of that nature and that, based on its holdings in the various unit trusts, the group 
was not exposed to variability of returns, as envisaged by the standard. 
 
Based on the conclusions arrived at in the previous paragraph, the group concluded that it 
was acting in the capacity of an agent for unit trusts and therefore also concluded that the 
unit trusts should not be consolidated in financial statements of the Group, or Barita Unit 
Trusts Management Company Limited, standing alone. 

 
(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty  
 

The group makes certain estimates and assumptions regarding the future. The resulting 
accounting estimates will by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The 
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to 
the carrying amounts assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below: 
 
(i) Fair value estimation 
 

A number of assets and liabilities included in the group’s financial statements require 
measurement at, and/or disclosure of, fair value. 
 

The price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date 
The price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement 
date. 

 
The fair value measurement of the group’s financial and non-financial assets and 
liabilities utilises market observable inputs and data as far as possible. Inputs used in 
determining fair value measurements are categorized into different levels based on 
how observable the inputs used in the valuation technique utilized are; the ‘fair value 
hierarchy:  
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4.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (CONT’D): 

 
(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d) 

 
(i) Fair value estimation (cont’d) 

 
Level 1  Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

(unadjusted) 
 

Level 2       Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are   
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or 
indirectly (that is, derived from prices). 

 
Level 3     Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market 

data (that is, unobservable inputs).  
 

The classification of an item into the above level is based on the lowest level of the 
inputs used that has a significant effect on the fair value measurement of the item. 

 
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets, such as available-for-
sale investments, is based on quoted market prices at the reporting date.  The quoted 
market price used for financial assets held by the company is the current bid price.  
These instruments are included in level 1 and comprise equity instruments traded on 
the Jamaica Stock Exchange. 

 
The fair values of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market are 
deemed to be/determined as follows: 
 

 The carrying values less any impairment provision of financial assets and 
liabilities with a maturity of less than one year are estimated to approximate 
their fair values due to the short term maturity of these instruments. These 
financial assets and liabilities are cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, 
trade payables, related company balances and unquoted investments. 

 
(ii) Income taxes  

 
Estimates are required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are some 
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain 
during the ordinary course of business. The group recognizes assets and liabilities for 
possible tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will become 
recoverable or will become due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is 
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact 
the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination 
is made. 
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4.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (CONT’D): 
 

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d) 
 

(iii) Expected maturity dates for financial assets and liabilities  
 

In disclosing its financial risk management, and considering its management of 
liquidity risk, the group discloses the expected maturity of its financial assets and 
financial liabilities. It is management’s experience that the contractual maturity of 
these assets and liabilities differ from the liquidation of these assets and liabilities, 
which makes the disclosure of expected maturity more meaningful to the users of the 
financial statements. The actual liquidation of the assets and liabilities may differ 
from management’s estimates.  
 

(iv) Depreciable assets 
 

Estimates of the useful life and the residual value of property, plant and equipment 
are required in order to apply an adequate rate of transferring the economic benefits 
embodied in these assets in the relevant periods.  The group applies a variety of 
methods in an effort to arrive at these estimates from which actual results may vary. 
Actual variations in estimated useful lives and residual values are reflected in profit 
or loss through impairment or adjusted depreciation provisions. 

 
 (v) Measurement of the expected credit loss allowance 
 

The measurement of the expected credit loss (ECL) allowance for financial assets 
measured at amortised cost is an area that requires the use of complex models and 
significant assumptions about future economic conditions and credit behavior (e.g. 
the likelihood of customers defaulting and the resulting losses). Significant  
judgement is also required  in applying the accounting requirements for measuring 
ECL, such as: 

 
 Determining criteria for significant increase in credit risk; 
 Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL  
 Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios for 

each type of product/market and the associated ECL; and  
 Establishing groups of similar financial assets for the purposes of measuring ECL. 

 
5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT: 

 
The group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve the analysis, 
evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk or combination of risks. Taking risk is 
core to the financial business, and the operational risks are an inevitable consequence of being in 
business. The group’s aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return and 
minimize potential adverse effects on group’s financial performance. 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

The group’s risk management policies are designed to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to 
monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of reliable and up-to-date information systems. 
The group regularly reviews its risk management policies and systems to reflect changes in markets, 
products and emerging best practice.  

 
The group is exposed through its operations to the following financial risks: 

 
- Credit risk 
- Fair value or cash flow interest rate risk 
- Foreign exchange risk 
- Other market price, and 
- Liquidity risk 

 
The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for the establishment and oversight of the group’s 
risk management framework. The Board, through the Asset and Liability Management Committee, 
Treasury Department, Audit Committee and Risk Manager, manages and monitors risks as follows: 

 
(i) Asset and Liability Management Committee 

 
This committee is responsible for monitoring the profile of the group’s assets and liabilities. 
This includes monitoring policies and procedures that are established to ensure that there is 
sufficient liquidity and that interest rate risk, currency risk and capital adequacy is also 
monitored.  
 

(ii) Treasury Department  
 
This department is responsible for monitoring the profile of the group’s assets and liabilities. 
It is also primarily responsible for managing the funding and liquidity risks of the group. It 
manages these risks by monitoring the statement of financial position and ensuring that 
business strategies are consistent with liquidity requirements measuring the capital adequacy 
for regulatory and business requirements and monitoring the composition of the assets and 
liabilities of the group. 
 

(iii) Audit Committee 
 

The Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the group’s risk 
management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management 
framework in relation to the risks faced by the group. The Audit Committee is assisted in its 
oversight role by internal Audit, which is outsourced. Internal Audit undertakes both regular 
and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are 
reported to the Audit Committee.  
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager  
 

The Risk manager inspects the group’s operations by reviewing new ventures and projects, 
new lines of business, and new and existing products for risk exposure. The Risk Manager also 
ensures compliance with regulations and policies. Periodic reports are prepared by the Risk 
Manager and presented to senior management and the Board of Directors.  
 
The most important types of financial risk faced by the group are credit risk, liquidity risk and 
market risk. Market risk includes currency risk and interest rate risk.  
 
(a) Credit risk  

 
The group takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that its clients or 
counterparties will cause a financial loss for the group by failing to discharge their 
contractual obligations. Credit risk is a significant risk for the group business; 
management therefore carefully manages its exposure to credit risk. Credit exposure 
arise principally in lending and investment activities. The group structures the levels 
of credit risk it undertakes as documented below. The group’s and the company’s 
maximum exposure to credit risk equals the carrying amounts on the statements of 
financial position, for the financial assets which expose the group and company to 
credit risk. 

   
The overall objective of the group is to set policies that seek to reduce risk as far as 
possible without unduly affecting the group’s competitiveness and flexibility.  

 
 Concentration of credit risk  
 

There is no significant concentration of credit risk in the area of loans issued by the 
group. In addition to assessment of earnings and cash flows, management obtains 
collateral in the form of hypothecated securities sold under repurchase agreement, or 
units held in any of the trusts managed by BUTM. The group seeks to ensure that the 
value of hypothecated securities exceeds the loan amount.  
 
Exposure to credit risk is managed through regular analysis of the ability of the 
customers and other counter-parties to meet repayment obligations. These are 
monitored regularly to ensure payments are received in accordance with the agreed 
terms.  
 
The group measures ECL considering the risk of default over the maximum 
contractual period over which it is exposed to credit risk and not a longer period, 
even if contract extension or renewal is common practice. 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d) 
 

(a) Credit risk (cont’d) 
 

 Concentration of credit risk  
 
The gross carrying amount of financial assets below also represents the group’s 
maximum exposure to credit risk on these assets.  
 
The following tables contains an analysis of the credit risk exposure of financial 
instruments for which it was concluded that an ECL allowance is required. The gross 
carrying amount of financial assets below also represents the group’s maximum 
exposure to credit risk on these assets and are due within one year.  
 
Loans receivables: 

                   The Group and the Company 
   2019       2018 

                                                               $’000        $’000  
Aging of loans receivables: 

             Current  751,846 414,334 
 Loss impairment        -      (   11,270) 
 
   751,846 403,064  

 
 Investment and cash  
 

The group limits its exposure to credit risk by investing mainly in liquid securities, 
with counterparties that have high credit quality, and Government of Jamaica and 
Bank of Jamaica securities. Accordingly, management does not expect any 
counterparty to fail to meet its obligations. The concentration of credit risk 
associated with the group’s investments portfolio is shown below, under the heading, 
debt securities concentration.  

 
 Collateral and other credit enhancements  
 

The amount and type of collateral required depends on an assessment of the credit 
risk of the counterparty. Guidelines are implemented regarding the acceptability of 
different types of collateral. 

 
 The main types of collateral are as follows: 
 

(i) For loans receivables – see above 
(ii) For securities purchased under resale agreements – GOJ or BOJ investment 

securities 
 
 

Year ended 30 September 2019

Notes to the Financial Statements



127 |  BARITA INVESTMENTS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2019 BARITA INVESTMENTS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2019 |  128
 

 
Page 37 

BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
 

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d) 
 

(a) Credit risk (cont’d) 
 

 Concentration of credit risk (cont’d) 
 
   Collateral and other credit enhancements (cont’d) 
 

Management monitors the market value of collateral held and requests additional 
collateral in accordance with the underlying agreements when additional collateral is 
required.  

  
 Impairment  
 
 Significant increase in credit risk  
 

 Qualitative assessment – credit ratings are associated with ranges of default 
probabilities based on historical information. Rating outlooks, which are 
inherently forward-looking, are used to determine the probability of default to be 
applied to a specific security within its respective range. Issuer-specific default 
risk estimates incorporate forward-looking information directly. In calculating the 
probability of default, the group uses credit ratings along with rating outlooks 
from recognized rating agencies, as well as issuer-specific default risk estimates 
where available and appropriate. The ratings and risk estimates are mapped to an 
internal credit risk grading model in order to standardize across different rating 
systems and to clearly demarcate significant increase in credit risk over time.  

 
A qualitative assessment is done at initial recognition and subsequently at each 
statement of financial position date and where it is determined that there is a 
significant increase in the probability of default the security is categories as stage 
2 for the purpose of calculating the ECL. If the financial instrument is credit 
impaired, the financial instrument is then moved to ‘Stage 3. Purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets are those financial assets that are 
credit-impaired on initial recognition. Their ECL is always measured on a lifetime 
basis (Stage 3). 
 

 Quantitative assessment – Investment securities are considered to have 
experienced a significant increase in credit risk if it is more than 30 days past due 
on its contractual payments.  
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d) 
 

(a) Credit risk (cont’d) 
 

 Impairment (cont’d) 
 
 Expected credit loss measurement  
 

IFRS 9 outlined a ‘three stage’ model for impairment based on changes in the credit 
quality since initial recognition as summarized below: 

 
 A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition is 

classified in ‘Stage 1’. 
 

 If a significant increase in credit risk (‘SICR’) since initial recognition is 
identified, the financial instrument is moved to ‘Stage 2’ but is not yet deemed 
to be credit-impaired.  
 

 If the financial instrument is credit impaired, the financial instrument is then 
moved to ‘Stage 3’. 
 

 Financial instruments in Stage 1 have their ECL measured at an amount equal to 
the portion of lifetime expected credit losses that result from default events 
possible within the next 12 months. Instruments in stages 2 or 3 have their ECL 
measured based on expected credit losses on a lifetime basis. 
 

 A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in accordance with IFRS 9 is that it should 
consider forward-looking information. 
 

 Purchased or originated credit-impairment financial assets are those financial 
assets that are credit-impaired on initial recognition. Their ECL is always 
measured on a lifetime basis (Stage 3). 

 
The group assesses on a forward-looking basis the ECL associated with debt 
investments. The ECL recognized by the group reflects an unbiased and probability 
weighted amounts that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes, the 
time value money and reasonable and supportable information that is available 
without undue cost at the reporting date. The ECL is the product of the Probability of 
Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD) and Loss Given Default (LGD).  

 
The PD presents the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on its financial obligation, 
either over the next 12 months or over the remaining lifetime of the obligation.  
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d) 
 

(a) Credit risk (cont’d) 
 

 Impairment (cont’d) 
 
 Expected credit loss measurement (cont’d) 
 

EAD is based on the amounts the group expects to be owed at the time of default, 
over the next 12 months or over the remaining lifetime.  

 
LGD represents the group’s expectation of the extent of loss on a defaulted exposure. 
LGD is calculated on a 12 month or a lifetime basis, where 12 month LGD is the 
percentage of loss expected to be made if the default occurs in the next 12 months 
and lifetime LGD is a percentage of loss expected to be made if the default occurs 
over the remaining expected lifetime of the loan.  
 
All of the group’s debt investments at amortised cost and FVOCI are considered to 
have low credit risk and the loss allowance recognized during the period was 
therefore limited to 12 months expected losses. Management considers ‘low credit 
risk’ for bonds to be those with an investment grade or high yield credit rating with 
at least one major rating agency. Other instruments are considered to be low credit 
rating with at lease one major rating agency. Other instruments are considered to be 
low credit risk when they have a low risk of default and the issuer has a strong 
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term.  
 
The loss allowance for debt investments at FVOCI is recognized in profit or loss and 
reduces the fair value loss otherwise recognized in OCI.  
 
The loss allowance for debt investments at FVOCI and at amortised cost as at 30 
September 2018 reconciles to the opening loss allowance on 1 October 2018 and to 
the closing loss allowance as at 30 September 2019 as follows: 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d) 
 

(a) Credit risk (cont’d) 
 

 Impairment (cont’d) 
 
 Expected credit loss measurement (cont’d) 

 
               The Group 
   

  FVOCI Total  
   $’000 $’000 
 Closing loss allowance as at  
 30 September (calculated under IAS 39)   11,270 11,270 
 Amounts restated through opening  
      retained earnings   152,928 152,928 
 Opening loss allowance as at  
   1 October 2018 calculated under IFRS 9  164,198 164,198 
 Increase in loss allowance recognized in 
   the income statement during the year   123,070 123,070 
  
  287,268 287,268  
 
Impairment policy applied prior to 1 October 2018 
 
The main considerations for the impairment assessment for financial assets include the 
following: 
 
(i)  Whether any payments of principal or interest are overdue by more than 90 days 
 
(ii) Whether there are any known difficulties in the cash flows of counterparties or 

infringement of the original terms of the contract and  
 
(iii) Whether there is any significant or prolonged decline in the market value below cost. 
 
Based on the foregoing considerations, there were no financial assets which are exposed to 
credit risk, which were deemed to be impaired.  
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMNT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d) 
 

(a) Credit risk (cont’d) 
 

 Impairment (cont’d) 
 

Debt securities concentration  
 

The following table summarises the group’s and company’s credit exposure for debt 
securities at their carrying amounts, as categorized by issuer: 

 
 The Group         The Company 
  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Government of Jamaica and  
Bank of Jamaica  15,474,749 9,966,450 15,474,749 9,479,074  
Financial Institutions 14,393,673 3,517,267 14,393,673 3,719,907  
Corporate and other bonds   3,700,330   1,979,587   3,623,800   1,746,777  

 
 33,568,752 15,463,304 33,492,222 14,945,758  

Accrued interest       219,681     213,745      219,370     201,612  
 
 33,788,433 15,677,049 33,711,592 15,147,370  
 
 
(b) Liquidity risk  

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the group is unable to meet its payment obligations 
associated with its financial liabilities when they fall due and is also unable to 
replace funds when they are withdrawn. The consequence may be the failure to meet 
obligations to repay investors and fulfil commitments to lend.  
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMNT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d) 
 
(b) Liquidity risk (cont’d) 
 
 Liquidity risk management process 
 

The group’s liquidity management process, as carried out within the group and 
monitored by the Treasury Department, includes: 

 
(i)  Monitoring future cash flows and liquidity on a daily basis. This incorporates an 

assessment of expected cash flows and the availability of collateral which could 
be used to secure funding if required. 

  (ii)  Maintaining a portfolio of highly marketable and diverse assets that can easily 
be liquated as protection against any unforeseen interruption to cash flow. 

 (iii)  Maintaining committed lines of credit  
 (iv)  Optimising cash returns on investments  

(v) Monitoring statement of financial position liquidity ratios against internal and 
regulatory requirements  

(vi) Managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities 
 

Monitoring and reporting take the form of cash flow measurement and projections for 
the next day, week and month, as these are key periods for liquidity management. The 
starting point for those projections is an analysis of the contractual maturity of the 
financial liabilities and the expected collection date of the financial assets. 

 
The matching and controlled mismatching of the maturities and interest rates of assets 
and liabilities is fundamental to the management of the group. It is unusual for 
companies ever to be completely matched since business transacted is often of 
uncertain term and of different types. An unmatched position potentially enhances 
profitability, but can also increase the risk of loss. 
 
The maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace at an acceptable cost, 
interest-bearing liabilities as they mature, are important factors in assessing the 
liquidity of the group and its exposure to changes in interest rates and exchange rates.  
 

   Financial assets and liabilities cash flows 
 

The tables below present the undiscounted cash flows (both interest and principal cash 
flows) of the group’s and company’s financial liabilities based on contractual rights and 
obligations as well as expected maturity and also shows the undiscounted cash flows of 
the group’s and company’s financial assets based on expected maturity. The group and 
company expect that many customers will not request repayment on the earliest date 
the group and company could be required to pay.  

Year ended 30 September 2019

Notes to the Financial Statements



133 |  BARITA INVESTMENTS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2019 BARITA INVESTMENTS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2019 |  134

Page 43 
BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMNT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d) 
 

 (b) Liquidity risk (cont’d) 
 

 Financial assets and liabilities cash flows (cont’d) 
 

                                                  The Group                                                  
                                                      2019                                                      
  

    Within 1   Within 3 3 to 12 1 to 5 Over  
    Month Months Months Years 5 years Total 
       $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 Based on contractual 
    maturity  

Bank overdraft   71,819 -      -      -        -     71,819 
Due to related party  77,711 -      -      -        -     77,711 

 Securities sold under   
              repurchase agreements   11,965,068 9,279,438 4,080,814   -                 -       25,325,320 

Payables   1,739,686        -               -            -                -         1,739,686  
 
Total financial liabilities  13,854,284 9,279,438 4,080,814       -                -       27,214,536 
Based on expected  

               maturity – 
Total financial liabilities  11,965,068 9,279,438 4,080,814         -                -        25,325,320 

 
Total financial assets 11,243,486 2,998,846 1,393,212 40,504,935 11,896,987 68,037,466 

 
 The Group                                                      
                                                  2018                                                           
  

     Within 1     Within 3 3 to 12 1 to 5 Over  
    Month Months Months Years 5 years Total 
       $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 Based on contractual 
    maturity  

Bank overdraft   311 -      -      -       -      311 
Due to related party  8,348 -      -      -       -      8,348 

 Securities sold under   
              repurchase agreements   6,175,433 5,239,265 1,380,699   1,567,143          -       14,362,540 

Payables    814,647        -               -            -                -            814,647  
 
Total financial liabilities  6,998,739 5,239,265 1,380,699 1,567,143          -       15,185,846 
Based on expected  

               maturity – 
Total financial liabilities   927,067    523,927    138,679 5,030,776  10,780,234 17,400,683 

 
Total financial assets 2,151,606 2,897,730 3,799,202 9,633,610 11,423,392 29,905,540 
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):   
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d) 
 

 (b) Liquidity risk (cont’d) 
 

 Financial assets and liabilities cash flows (cont’d) 
 

 
                                                 The Company                                           
                                                       2019                                                    

   Within 1  Within 3 3 to 12 1 to 5 Over  
    Month Months Months Years 5 years Total 
       $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 Based on contractual 
    maturity  

Bank overdraft   71,819 -      -      -       -       71,819 
Due to related party  17,572 -      -      -       -       17,572 

 Securities sold under   
              repurchase agreements   11,960,045 9,246,561 3,031,171      -                 -         24,237,777 

Payables   1,674,653         -              -              -               -           1,674,653  
 
Total financial liabilities  13,724,089 9,246,561 3,031,171         -               -         26,001,821 
Based on expected  

               maturity – 
Total financial liabilities   11,960,045 9,246,561 3,031,171         -               -         24,237,777 

 
Total financial assets 11,243,486 2,998,846 1,393,212 40,504,935 11,896,987 68,037,466 

 
                                                 The Company                                           
                                                       2018                                                    

   Within 1  Within 3 3 to 12 1 to 5 Over  
    Month Months Months Years 5 years Total 
       $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 Based on contractual 
    maturity  

Bank overdraft   311 -      -      -       -      311 
Due to related party  1,407 -      -      -       -      1,407 

 Securities sold under   
              repurchase agreements   6,180,448 5,239,265 1,386,790   1,567,143          -       14,373,646 

Payables    690,023         -              -             -                 -           690,023  
 
Total financial liabilities  6,872,189 5,239,265 1,386,790   1,567,143          -       15,065,387 
Based on expected  

               maturity – 
Total financial liabilities       927,067    523,927    138,679   5,030,776  10,780,234 17,400,683 

 
Total financial assets 2,151,606 2,897,730 3,799,202 9,633,610 11,423,392 29,905,540 
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d) 
 

 (b) Liquidity risk (cont’d) 
 

 Financial assets and liabilities cash flows (cont’d) 
  

Assets available to meet all of the liabilities include cash, securities purchased under 
resale agreements and marketable securities. The group and company are also able to 
meet unexpected net cash outflows by selling securities.  

 
The carrying amount for securities sold under repurchase agreement due within twelve 
months equals $23,139,000 (2018 - $12,807,000) for the group and $23,150,000 (2018 -
$12,807,000) for the company. 

 
(c) Market risk  

 
The group takes on exposure to market risks, which is the risk that the fair value or 
future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
prices. Market risks mainly arise from changes in foreign currency exchange rates and 
interest rates. Market risk is monitored by the Risk Manager in conjunction with the 
Treasury manager, who carries out extensive research and monitors the price movement 
of financial assets on local and international markets. Generally, the group has a low to 
medium risk profile and invests primarily in Government of Jamaica securities. Market 
risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis. 

 
(i)    Currency risk 

 
The group incurs foreign currency risk on transactions that are denominated in a 
currency other than Jamaican dollar.  

 
The group also has transactional currency exposure. Such exposure arises from 
having financial assets in currencies other than those in which financial liabilities are 
expected to settle. The group ensures that its net exposure is kept to an acceptable 
level by buying or selling foreign assets to address short term imbalances. 

 
The main currencies giving rise to this risk are the Canadian dollar, United States 
dollar and British pound. The group sets limits on the level of exposure by currency 
and in total for both overnight and intra-day positions which are monitored daily.  
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d)  
 
(c)    Market risk (cont’d) 

  
(i)    Currency risk (cont’d) 

 
                                                   The Group                                       

  CAD US$ GBP Jamaican  Total 
  J$’000 J$’000 J$’000 J$’000 J$’000 
                                                2019                                             
 

Financial Assets   
Cash and bank balances   2,778 468,987 5,331 310,824 787,920 
Securities purchased under 
  resale agreements       -     3,130,683 -     11,548,291 14,678,974 
Marketable securities and 

pledged assets   -     5,951,955 80,754 15,938,298 21,971,007 
Receivables      -     -       -     748,517 748,517  
Loans receivables     -     -       -     751,846 751,846 
Due from related parties       -            -           -       1,624,584   1,624,584 
 
Total financial assets    2,778  9,551,625  86,085 30,922,360 40,562,848 

 
Financial Liabilities  
Bank overdraft    -     53,309 -     18,510 71,819 
Securities sold under  

repurchase agreement    -     6,895,492 71,162 17,126,156 24,092,810 
Payables   -     -       -     1,739,686 1,739,686 
Due to related parties      -            -            -           77,711       77,711 
 
Total financial liabilities       -     6,948,801 71,162 18,962,063 25,982,026 

 
Net financial position   2,778 2,602,824 14,923 11,960,297 14,580,822
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Year ended 30 September 2019

Notes to the Financial Statements



137 |  BARITA INVESTMENTS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2019 BARITA INVESTMENTS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2019 |  138 
 

Page 47 
BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

 
5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d)  
 
(c)    Market risk (cont’d) 

  
(i)    Currency risk (cont’d) 

 
                                                   The Group                                       

  CAD US$ GBP Jamaican$  Total 
  J$’000 J$’000 J$’000 J$’000 J$’000 
                                                2018                                             
 

Financial Assets   
Cash and bank balances   2,475   200,765 4,981 125,464 333,685 
Securities purchased under 
  resale agreements       -    579,551 -     3,355,940 3,935,491 
Marketable securities and 

pledged assets   -    3,729,509 89,559 9,567,796 13,386,864 
Receivables      -    -      -     437,019 437,019  
Loans receivables     -    -      -     403,064 403,064 
Due from related parties        -            -             -           72,096       72,096 
 
Total financial assets   2,475  4,509,825    94,540 13,961,379 18,568,219 

 
Financial Liabilities  
Bank overdraft    -     311 -      -        311 
Securities sold under  

repurchase agreement    1,618   1,662,131 78,118 12,620,673 14,362,540 
Payables   -     -      -     814,647 814,647 
Due to related parties       -             -            -             8,348         8,348 
 
Total financial liabilities      1,618 1,662,442   78,118 13,443,668 15,185,846 

 
Net financial position       857 2,847,383   16,422      517,711  3,382,373 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Year ended 30 September 2019

Notes to the Financial Statements

 
 

Page 48 
 

BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

 
5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d)  
 
(c)    Market risk (cont’d) 

  
(i)    Currency risk (cont’d) 

 
                                               The Company                                      

  CAD  US$ GBP Jamaican  Total 
  J$’000 J$’000 J$’000 J$’000 J$’000 
                                                2019                                             
 

Financial Assets   
Cash and bank balances   2,778 366,168 5,331 278,277 652,554 
Securities purchased under 
  resale agreements   -      3,130,683 -     11,548,291 14,678,974 
Marketable securities and 

pledged assets   -      5,785,298 80,754 15,611,120 21,477,172 
Receivables   -      -       -     734,215 734,215 
Loans receivables   -      -       -     751,846 751,846 
Due from related parties      -            -            -       1,546,670   1,546,670 
 
Total financial assets   2,778 9,282,149 86,085 30,470,419 39,841,431 

 
Financial Liabilities  
Bank overdraft    -     53,309 -     18,510 71,819 
Securities sold under  

repurchase agreement    -     6,895,492 71,162 17,136,940 24,103,594 
Payables   -      -       -     1,674,653 1,674,653 
Due to related parties      -            -           -           17,572       17,572 
 
Total financial liabilities      -     6,948,801 71,162 18,847,675 25,867,638 

 
Net financial position   2,778 2,333,348 14,923 11,622,744 13,973,793 
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d)  
 
(c)    Market risk (cont’d) 

  
(i) Currency risk (cont’d) 

       
                                               The Company                                      

  CAD  US$ GBP Jamaican  Total 
  J$’000 J$’000 J$’000 J$’000 J$’000 
                                                2018                                             
 

Financial Assets   
Cash and bank balances   2,475    180,342 4,981 59,691 247,489 
Securities purchased under 
  resale agreements   -      579,551 -     3,355,940 3,935,491 
Marketable securities and 

pledged assets     -      3,058,923 89,559 9,153,757 12,302,239 
Receivables   -      -      -     409,833 409,833  
Loans receivables   -      -      -     403,064 403,064 
Due from related parties       -            -           -           17,655       17,655 
 
Total financial assets   2,475   3,818,816 94,540 13,399,940 17,315,771 

 
Financial Liabilities  
Bank overdraft    -     311 -      -        311 
Securities sold under  

repurchase agreement    1,618    1,662,131 78,118 12,631,779 14,373,646 
Payables   -     -      -    690,023 690,023 
Due to related parties       -            -           -            1,407         1,407 
 
Total financial liabilities   1,618 1,662,442 78,118 13,323,209 15,065,387 

 
Net financial position      857 2,156,374 16,422       76,731   2,250,384 
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d)  
 
(c)    Market risk (cont’d) 

  
(i)    Currency risk (cont’d) 

 
 Foreign currency sensitivity  
 

The following indicate the currencies to which the group and company had 
significant exposure on their monetary assets and liabilities and their forecast cash 
flows. The change in currency rate below represents management’s assessment of a 
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis 
represents outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts 
their translation at the year-end for a 6% devaluation and 4% revaluation in the 
value of the Jamaican dollar (JMD) (2018 – 4% devaluation and 2% revaluation). The 
sensitivity analysis includes cash and bank balances, securities purchased under 
resale agreements, marketable securities and securities sold under repurchase 
agreements.  

 
                                         The Group and Company                                                
  Effect on 
 % Change Effect on Effect on other  % Change Effect on  Other  
 In Currency Profit components of in Currency Profit components 
 Rate before Tax Equity Rate before Tax of Equity 

            2019 2019 2019 2018 2018 2018 
 Currency           $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 

CAD  
 (devaluation   
 of JMD) 6 167 -    4 34 -    

CAD  
 (revaluation 
 of JMD  4 (111) -    2 17 -       

USD  
 (devaluation   

of JMD) 6 151,967 874,300 4 113,895 65,099  
USD  
 (revaluation   

of JMD) 4 (101,311) (437,150) 2 (  56,948) ( 229,834)  
GBP  
 (devaluation   

of JMD) 6 895 -    4 657     -      
GBP 
 (revaluation   
of JMD)               4 (      597) -   2 (      328) -      

Year ended 30 September 2019
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d)  
 
(c)    Market risk (cont’d) 

 
 (ii)   Interest rate risk  

 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value or future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. 

 
Floating rate instruments expose the group to cash flow interest risk, whereas fixed 
interest rate instruments expose the group to fair value interest risk. 

 
The group’s interest rate policy requires it to manage interest rate risk by 
maintaining an appropriate mix of fixed and variable rate instruments. The policy 
also requires the group to manage the maturities of interest bearing financial assets 
and interest bearing financial liabilities. The Board sets limits on the level of 
mismatch of interest rate re-opening that may be unknown, which is monitored 
daily by the Treasury Department. 

 
The following tables summaries the group’s and company’s exposure to interest 
rate risk. It includes financial instrument at carrying amounts, categories by the 
earlier of contractual re-pricing or maturity dates. 
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30 SEPTEMBER 2019 

5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

 (iv) Risk Manager (cont’d)  
 

(c)   Market risk (cont’d) 
 

(ii)   Interest rate risk (cont’d) 
                                                                  The Group                                                                 
                                                                    2019                                                                         
   

 Immediately   Within 3 3 to 12 1 to 5 Over Non-rate 
 rate sensitive   Months Months Years 5 Years sensitive  Total  
        $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Financial Assets    
Cash and bank balances 787,920 -      -      -     -      -        787,920 
Securities purchased 
under resale agreements 11,230,646 2,975,849 405,000 67,479 -      -       14,678,974 

Marketable securities 
and pledged assets  -         295,795 994,531 12,858,876 7,686,644 135,161 21,971,007 

Receivables -        -      -      - -      748,517 748,517  
Loan receivables  751,846 -      -      - -      -      751,846 
Due from related parties       -          -       -       -  -      1,624,584 1,624,584   
Total financial assets  12,770,412 3,271,644 1,399,531 12,926,355 7,686,644 2,508,262 40,562,848 

 
Financial Liabilities  
Bank overdraft  71,819 -       -       -       -      -    71,819 
Securities sold under  
   repurchase agreements  11,884,974 9,202,900 1,981,528 1,023,408 -        -       24,092,810 
Payables  -        -      -      -       -     1,739,686 1,739,686 
Due to related parties          -        -      -        -       -     77,711 77,711 
 
Total financial liabilities  11,956,793 9,202,900 1,981,528 1,023,408 -     1,817,397 25,982,026 
Total interest repricing  
gap       813,619 (5,931,256) (   581,997) 11,902,947 7,686,644 690,865 14,580,822  

 
Cumulative gap      813,619 (5,117,637) (5,669,634) 6,203,313 13,889,957 14,580,822 -        

Year ended 30 September 2019
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

 (iv) Risk Manager (cont’d)  
 

(c)   Market risk (cont’d) 
 

(ii)   Interest rate risk (cont’d) 
                                                                  The Group                                                                 
                                                                    2018                                                                         
   

 Immediately   Within 3 3 to 12 1 to 5 Over Non-rate 
 rate sensitive   Months Months Years 5 Years sensitive  Total  
        $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Financial Assets    
Cash and bank balances 333,685 -      -     -     -     -         333,685  
Securities purchased 
under resale agreements 2,079,351 1,828,934 27,206 - -     -       3,935,491 

Marketable securities 
and pledged assets  50,070 33,347 2,527,030 2,711,116 8,065,301 -    13,386,864 

Receivables -         -      -     - -      437,019 437,019  
Loan receivables  403,064 -      -     - -      -       403,064 
Due from related parties      -          -        -      -  -      72,096 72,096      
Total financial assets  2,866,170 1,862,281 2,554,236 2,711,116 8,065,301 509,115 18,568,219 

 
Financial Liabilities  
Bank overdraft  311 -       -     -      -     -      311 
Securities sold under  
   repurchase agreements  6,169,342 5,239,265 1,386,790 1,567,143 -     -      14,362,540  
Payables  -         -      -    -      -     814,647 814,647 
Due to related parties        -                -               -             -      -     8,348 8,348 
 
Total financial liabilities  6,169,653 5,239,265 1,386,790 1,567,143     -    822,995 15,185,846 
Total interest repricing  
gap  (3,303,483) (3,376,984) 1,167,446 1,143,973 8,065,301 (  313,880) 3,382,373  

 
Cumulative gap (3,303,483) (6,680,467) (5,513,021) (4,369,048) 3,696,253 3,382,373 -     

Year ended 30 September 2019
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

 (iv) Risk Manager (cont’d)  
 

(c)   Market risk (cont’d) 
 

(ii)   Interest rate risk (cont’d) 
                                                                    The Company                                                             
                                                                      2019                                                                        

       
 Immediately   Within 3 3 to 12 1 to 5 Over Non-rate 

 rate sensitive   Months Months Years 5 Years sensitive  Total  
          $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Financial Assets    
Cash and bank balances 652,554 -      - -      -       -         652,554  
Securities purchased 
under resale agreements 11,230,646 2,975,849 405,000 67,479 -     -       14,678,974 

Marketable securities 
and pledged assets  -       7,883 942,723 13,034,085 7,492,481 -       21,477,172 

Receivables -       -    -    - -     734,215 734,215  
Loan receivables  751,846 -    -    -  -     -      751,846 
Due from related parties          -       -      -     -   -     1,546,670 1,546,670   
Total financial assets  12,635,046 2,983,732 1,347,723 13,101,564 7,492,481 2,280,885 39,841,431 

 
Financial Liabilities  
Bank overdraft  71,819 -     -      -       -     -  71,819 
Due to related parties  -      -    -     -       -     17,572    17,572 
Securities sold under  
  repurchase agreements  11,884,974 9,213,684 1,981,528 1,023,408 -     -     24,103,594  
Payables           -       -     -     -       -     1,674,653 1,674,653  
 
Total financial liabilities  11,956,793 9,213,684 1,981,528 1,023,408 -     1,692,225 25,867,638  
Total interest repricing  
gap       678,253 (6,229,952) (   633,805) 12,078,156 7,492,481 588,660 13,973,793  
  

Cumulative gap      678,253 (5,551,699) (6,185,504) 5,892,652 13,385,133 13,973,793 -       

Year ended 30 September 2019
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30 SEPTEMBER 2019 

5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d) 
  

(c)   Market risk (cont’d) 
 

(ii)   Interest rate risk (cont’d) 
                                                                    The Company                                                             
                                                                      2018                                                                        

       
 Immediately   Within 3 3 to 12 1 to 5 Over Non-rate 

 rate sensitive   Months Months Years 5 Years sensitive  Total  
          $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Financial Assets    
Cash and bank balances 247,489 - - -       -       -        247,489   
Securities purchased 
under resale agreements 2,079,351 1,828,934 27,206 - -      -      3,935,491 

Marketable securities 
and pledged assets  50,070   3,478 2,475,222 2,471,271 7,302,198 -      12,302,239 

Receivables -       -     -     - -     409,833 409,833  
Loan receivables  403,064 -     -     - -     -     403,064 
Due from related parties         -      -      -      -  -     17,655 17,655     
Total financial assets  2,779,974 1,832,412 2,502,428 2,471,271 7,302,198 427,488 17,315,771 

 
Financial Liabilities  
Bank overdraft  311 -       -     -      -     -      311 
Due to related parties  -       -     -     -      -     1,407 1,407 
Securities sold under  
Repurchase agreements  6,180,448 5,239,265 1,386,790 1,567,143  -     -     14,373,646 
Payables         -       -     -     -      -     690,023 690,023 
 
Total financial liabilities  6,180,759 5,239,265 1,386,790 1,567,143      -     691,430 15,065,387 
Total interest repricing  
gap  (3,400,785) (3,406,853) 1,115,638 904,128 7,302,198 (  263,942) 2,250,384  
  

Cumulative gap (3,400,785) (6,807,638) (5,692,000) (4,787,872) 2,514,326 2,250,384 -      

Year ended 30 September 2019
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d) 
  

(c)   Market risk (cont’d) 
 

(ii)   Interest rate risk (cont’d) 
 

Average effective yields by the earlier of the contractual repricing or maturity dates: 
 

                                                        The Group and Company                                  
                                                                     2019                                                    

       
 Immediately   Within 3 3 to 12 1 to 5 Over  

 rate sensitive   Months Months Years 5 Years Average 
             % % % % % %     
 

Marketable securities  
denominated in JA$ - 2.00 3.00 6.00 10.00 5.25 
Marketable securities  
denominated in US$ - - 5.00 6.00 8.00 6.33 
Marketable securities  
denominated in GBP - - -    10.00 5.75 7.88 
Securities purchased under  
resale agreements-denominated  
in JA$ - 2.53 3.29 -   - 2.30 
Securities purchased under  
resale agreements-denominated  
in US$ - 2.57 -    2.50 - 2.30 
Securities sold under resale  
agreements-denominated  
in JA$ - 2.13 2.68 -   - 2.00 
Securities sold under resale  
agreements-denominated  
in US$ - 1.97 1.68 -   - 1.69 
Securities sold under resale  
agreements-denominated  
in GBP         - 0.70 0.70 0.40 - 0.60 

 
Yields are based on book value and contractual interest rate adjusted for amortization of premium 
and discounts.  
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d)  
 

(c)   Market risk (cont’d) 
 

(ii)   Interest rate risk (cont’d) 
 

Average effective yields by the earlier of the contractual repricing or maturity dates: 
 

                                                       The Group and Company                                  
                                                                     2018                                                    

       
 Immediately   Within 3 3 to 12 1 to 5 Over  

 rate sensitive   Months Months Years 5 Years Average 
             % % % % % %     
 

Marketable securities  
denominated in JA$ - 2.00 7.00 7.00 10.00 6.50 
Marketable securities  
denominated in US$ - 2.00 9.00 7.00 7.00 6.25 
Marketable securities  
denominated in GBP - - - 10.00 6.00 8.00 
Securities purchased under  
resale agreements-denominated  
in JA$ - 2.00 3.00 5.00 - 3.33 
Securities purchased under  
resale agreements-denominated  
in US$ - 1.00 2.00 - - 1.50 
Securities purchased under  
resale agreements-denominated  
in GBP - 1.00 - 1.00 - 1.00 
Securities sold under resale  
agreements-denominated  
in JA$ - 6.89 7.89 - - 7.39 
Securities sold under resale  
agreements-denominated  
in US$ - 2.78 0.89 0.14 - 1.27 
Securities sold under resale  
agreements-denominated  
in GBP               - 0.48 1.25 - - 0.87 
Securities sold under resale  
agreements-denominated  
in CAD$               - -   - 1.00 - 1.00 

 
Yields are based on book value and contractual interest rate adjusted for amortization of premium 
and discounts.  
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d) 
  

(c)   Market risk (cont’d) 
 

(ii)   Interest rate risk (cont’d) 
 

Interest rate sensitivity  
 

The following table indicate the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest 
rate, with all other variables held constant on the group’s and company’s profit or loss 
and shareholders’ equity. 

 
The sensitivity of the profit or loss for the year is the effect of the assumed changes in 
interest rates on profit before taxation based on the floating rate non-trading financial 
assets and financial liabilities. The sensitivity of shareholders’ equity is calculated by 
revaluing fixed rate fair value through OCI and FVPL financial assets for the effects of 
the assumed changes in interest rates. The change in the interest rates will impact the 
financial assets and liabilities differently. Consequently, individual analyses were 
performed. The effect on profit before taxation and other components of equity below 
is the total of the individual sensitivities done for each of the assets and liabilities.  

 
  Effect on  Effect on   
 Effect on Other  Effect on Other 
 Profit before Components Profit before Components 
 Taxation of Equity Taxation of Equity  
 2019 2019 2018 2018 
             $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

                                      The Group                              
Change in basis points  
-100/-100 (2018: -100/-100) 119,962 (23,303) 33,496 (25,423)  
+100/+100 (2018: +100/+100)00 (119,962) 23,303 (33,496) 25,423 
   
 

                                      The Company                          
Change in basis points  
-100/-100 (2018: -100/-100) 119,962 (23,226) 34,390 (26,094)  
+100/+100 (2018: +100/+100)00 (119,962) 23,226 (34,390) 26,094 
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d)  
 

(c)   Market risk (cont’d) 
 

(iii)    Price risk 
 

Price risk is the risk that the value of financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of 
changes in the market prices, whether those changes are caused by factors specific to 
the individual instruments or its issuer or factors affecting all instruments traded in 
the market. The group and the company are exposed to equity securities price risk 
because of certain equity and unit investments which they hold. 

 
The table below summarizes the impact of increases/decreases on the group’s and 
company’s net other comprehensive income (before taxation) resulting from a 
reasonably possible change in market prices. There would be no impact on profit 
before taxation as the equities are classified as fair value through other 
comprehensive income. The analysis is based on the assumption that the equity and 
unit trust prices had increased/decreased by 10% (2018 - 10%). 

 
 
 Effect on Effect on  
 Other Other 
 Comprehensive  Comprehensive  
 Income before Income before 
 Taxation Taxation  
 2019 2018 
                   $’000 $’000 
                             The Group                   
Changes in index 
  
+10% (2018: +10%) 118,463 124,105  
-10%  ( 2018: -10%)               (118,463)  (124,105)  
 
                             The Company              
Changes in index 
  
+10% (2018: +10%) 76,764 133,312  
-10%  (2018: -10%)               (76,764) (133,312)  
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 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

 
5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):  

 
(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d)  
 

(d) Capital Management   
 

The group’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the equity 
on the face of the statements of financial position, are: 

 
(i) To comply with the capital requirements set by the regulators of the markets where 

the group provides returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. 
(ii) To safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can 

continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. 
(iii) To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.  

 
Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored regulatory by the group’s 
management employing techniques based on the guidelines developed by the FSC. The 
required information is filed with FSC on a monthly basis. 

 
The company and its subsidiary, BUTM are both regulated by the FSC. 

 
The FSC requires each bank or banking group to: 

 
(i) Hold the minimum level of the tier 1 capital as a percentage of total capital base. 
(ii)  Maintain a ratio of total regulatory capital to the risk-weighted assets. 

 
The group’s regulatory capital is managed by its Treasury Departments and Risk Manager 
and is divided into two tiers:  

 
(i)  Tier 1 capital: share capital, retained earnings and reserves created by 

appropriations of retained earnings. The book value of goodwill, if any, is deducted 
in arriving at Tier 1 capital; and 

(ii)  Tier 2 capital: qualifying subordinated loan capital, collective impairment 
allowances and unrealized gains arising on the fair valuation of equity instruments 
held as available for sale. 

 
The risk-weighted assets are measured by means of a hierarchy of five weights classified 
according to the nature of and reflecting an estimate of credit, market and other risks 
associated with each asset and counterparty, taking into account any eligible collateral or 
guarantees. 

 
As at the reporting date, the group was in compliance with all of the externally imposed 
capital requirements to which it is subject.  
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 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

 
5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d) 
 

(e) Fair values of financial instruments 
 

The following table presents the group’s and company’s financial assets that are 
measured at fair value. There are no liabilities that are measured at fair value at the 
year end and the group has no instruments classified in Level 3 during the year. There 
were no transfers between levels during the year.  

 
                       The Group                        
                             2019                            
 
 Level 1 Level 2 Total 
     $’000 $’000 $’000 
Investment securities fair value  
through profit or loss   
Equity securities 997,859 186,774 1,184,633 
 
Investment securities fair value  
 through other comprehensive income     
Debt securities        -      19,328,829 19,328,829 
  
 997,859 19,515,603 20,513,462 
  
  
                             2018                            
 Level 1 Level 2 Total 
     $’000 $’000 $’000  
Available-for-sale financial assets-  
Equity securities 965,715 306,060 1,271,775  
Debt securities         -     12,120,190 12,120,190 
 
 965,715 12,426,250 13,391,965 
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30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D): 

 
(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d) 
 

(e) Fair values of financial instruments (cont’d) 
 

                      The Company                    
                             2019                            
 Level 1 Level 2 Total 
     $’000 $’000 $’000 
Investment securities fair value  
through profit or loss   
Equity securities 697,968 69,669 767,637 
 
Investment securities fair value  
 through other comprehensive income     
Debt securities        -      19,251,988 19,251,988 
  
 697,968 19,321,657 20,019,625  
  
                             2018                            
 Level 1 Level 2 Total 
     $’000 $’000 $’000  
Available-for-sale financial assets-  
Equity securities 801,832 86,916 888,748 
Debt securities         -     11,387,870 11,387,870 
 
 801,832 11,474,786 12,276,618 

 
The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in an active market for which there are no 
quoted market prices, is determined by using valuation techniques. When using valuation 
techniques, the group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market 
conditions existing at year end. The following methods and assumptions have been used.  

 
(i)    Investments securities classified as fair value through profit or loss and fair value through 

other comprehensive income are measured at fair value by reference to quoted market 
prices when available. If quoted prices are not available, then fair values estimated on the 
basis of pricing models or other recognized valuation techniques. 

 
(ii)   The fair value of liquid assets and other assets maturing within three months is assumed to 

approximate their carrying amount. The assumption is applied to liquid assets and the short 
term elements of all other financial instruments. 

 
(iii)  The fair value of variable rate financial instruments is assumed to approximate their 

carrying value. 
 
(iv)  The fair value of securities sold under agreements to repurchase is approximately their 

carrying amounts, due to short term maturity on these instruments. 
 
(v)  Equity security for which fair values cannot be measured reliably are recognized at cost less 

impairment. 
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 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

 
6. SEGMENT REPORTING:   
 

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the Board of 
Directors that are used to make strategic decisions. The group is organized and managed in business 
segments based on its business activities which are all located in Jamaica. The designated segments 
are as follows: 

 
(a) Fixed income – this includes money market activities and securities broking  
(b) Funds management – this includes the administration of a number of unit trust funds  
(c) Other operations – this includes the operation of foreign exchange cambio, stock broking 

and any other income. 
 

The Board of Directors assesses the performance of the operating segments based on a measure of 
adjusted profit before tax. The segment information provided to the Board of Directors for the 
reportable segments for the year is as follows: 
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONT’D):  
 

                                      The Group                              
                                 2019                                       

 Fixed Funds   
 Income Management Other Group 
        $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Total segment revenue  2,119,542 998,947 2,890,057 6,008,546 
Inter-segment revenue (       5,791)       -      ( 1,115,449) (1,121,240) 
Total gross external revenue  2,113,751 998,947 1,774,608 4,887,306 
  
Total expenses  (   881,155) (117,059) -     (  998,214) 
Inter-segment expense         -          5,791          -          5,791 

  
 (   881,155) (111,268)         -      (   992,423) 

Segment results  1,232,596 887,689 1,774,608 3,894,883 
 
Unallocated expenses    (1,440,559) 
 
Profit before tax     2,454,324  
Taxation     (   741,543) 
 
Net profit    1,712,781 

  
Segment assets  35,165,373 1,665,689 1,742,792 38,573,854  
Inter-segment assets           -      (   943,142)       -       (   943,142) 
 
Net-segment assets 35,165,373    722,547 1,742,792 37,630,712 
Unallocated assets       3,373,942 
 
Total assets     41,004,654 

   
    

Segment liabilities 24,103,594 368,810 -      24,472,404 
Inter- segment liabilities  (      10,784)        -             -     (       10,784) 
 
Net segment liabilities  24,092,810 368,810         -     24,461,620 
Unallocated liabilities       2,873,756 
 
Total liabilities      
Other segment items  27,335,376 

 
Depreciation (Note 18) 26,560 163 -     26,723 
Amortization (Note 19)       6,353       -           -             6,353 
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30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

 
6. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONT’D): 

                                      The Group                              
                                 2018                                       

 Fixed Funds   
 Income Management Other Group 
        $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Total segment revenue  1,073,035 505,210 326,075 1,904,320  
Inter-segment revenue (        1,479)         -             -      (       1,479) 
Total gross external revenue  1,071,556    505,210   326,075 1,902,841 
  
Total expenses  (    599,657) (    94,165) -      (    693,822) 
Inter-segment expense          -             1,479        -              1,479 

 (    599,657) (    92,686)        -      (    692,343) 
 

Segment results      471,899   412,524   326,075 1,210,498  
Unallocated expenses    (    666,811)  
 
Profit before tax     543,687 
Taxation     (    180,446) 
 
Net profit        363,241 

  
Segment assets  15,353,358 1,310,218 1,121,067  17,784,643 
Inter-segment assets          -        (     48,147)         -      (      48,147) 
 
Net-segment assets 15,353,358 1,262,071 1,121,067  17,736,496  
Unallocated assets       1,146,047  
 
Total assets     18,882,543 

    
Segment liabilities 14,188,714 189,308 -      14,378,022 
Inter- segment liabilities  (       11,106)        -       -      (       11,106) 
 
Net segment liabilities  14,177,608    189,308 -      14,366,916 
Unallocated liabilities       1,449,555 
 
Total liabilities     15,816,471 
Other segment items  

 
Depreciation (Note 18) 18,883 1,148 -      20,031 
Amortization (Note 19)      38,799         -            -            38,799 
  

 
Revenue between segments is recorded on the basis outlined in Note 3 (c). The accounting policies used to 
record income, assets and liabilities are consistent for all segments. There was no change in the method 
used to determine reportable segments when compared to the previous year.  
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONT’D):  
 

Profit from the reportable segments is reconciled to the group’s profit before taxation as follows: 
 

           The Group              
  2019 2018  
    $’000 $’000  
 
Profit from reportable segments     3,894,883 1,210,498  
Unallocated costs -  
  Operating expenses    (1,440,559) (   666,811)  
  
   2,454,324    543,687 
    

Reportable segments assets are reconciled to the groups’ total assets as follows: 
 

           The Group              
  2019 2018  
    $’000 $’000  
 
Segment assets from reportable segments      37,630,712 17,732,120  
Unallocated assets -  
  Cash and bank balances    652,554 333,685  
  Receivables    734,215 437,019  
  Due from related parties    1,546,670 72,096  
  Property, plant and equipment   351,972 243,533  
  Intangible assets    33,531 9,090  
  Investments          55,000       55,000    
  
   41,004,654 18,882,543 
  

  
Reportable segments liabilities are reconciled to the group’s total liabilities as follows: 

 
           The Group              
  2019 2018  
    $’000 $’000  
 
Segment assets from reportable segments      24,461,620 14,362,540  
Unallocated liabilities -  
  Bank overdraft    71,819 311  
  Payables     1,674,653 814,647  
  Due to related parties    17,572 8,348     
Taxation payable   543,358 44,612     
Deferred tax liabilities       566,354      586,014  

  
   27,335,376 15,816,472 
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30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
7. STAFF COSTS:  

  
 The Group         The Company 
  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Wages and salaries   416,477 277,415 377,377 227,924  
Commissions 46,927 35,432 46,927 35,432  
Statutory contributions 40,263 27,431 37,704 25,151  
Pension costs 20,923 13,373 19,428 12,266  
Other staff benefits    28,960   31,759   26,590   26,748  

 
 553,550 385,410 508,026 327,521  
  

8. EXPENSES BY NATURE:  
 

Total direct and administration expenses: 
 The Group         The Company 

  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Advertising and promotion   92,380 31,574 86,598 24,519  
Assets tax 43,300 36,083 40,573 33,897  
Auditor’s remuneration 9,055 6,300 5,000 3,500  
Bad debt 60,162 12,092 60,162 12,092       
Bank charges and interest 16,106 13,122 13,002 9,606  
Depreciation and amortization   
(Notes 18 and 19) 33,076 58,830 32,913 57,682  

Directors’ fees 21,850 6,485 19,825 6,485  
Donations 50,641 31,407 50,598 31,100  
Expected credit losses  123,070 -     107,442 -          
Insurance 12,121 7,890 12,121 7,890   
Office expenses 20,416 11,615 17,755 9,410  
Professional fees 50,335 47,327 42,572 44,360  
Registration and license fees 19,762 6,690 15,357 6,231  
Rent  7,601 4,495 7,601 4,041  
Management fees 255,000 -    255,000 -    
Repairs and maintenance 14,560 5,923 14,447 5,745  
Security costs  15,403 7,087 15,403 7,087  
Software maintenance  27,644 14,962 27,644 14,962  
Staff costs (Note 7) 553,550 385,410 508,026 327,521  
Utilities 11,375 10,165 7,857 7,757  
Other expenses        88,043   63,519     85,663   53,276  

 
 1,525,450 760,976 1,425,559 667,161 
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30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
9.  TAXATION EXPENSE:  
 

(a) Income tax is computed on the profit for the year, as adjusted for taxation purposes, and   
comprises income tax at 33 1/3%: 

 
 The Group         The Company 
  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 
Current year tax charge    823,821 132,484 567,752 22,275 
Prior year over provision    (    5,525) -      (    9,014) -      
Deferred income tax (Note 22) (  76,753)   47,962 (  87,436)  36,649  
 
Tax charge 741,543 180,446 471,302 58,924 
    

(b) Reconciliation of applicable tax expense to effective tax charge. 
 

The group’s and company’s taxation expense differ from the theoretical amount that would 
arise from the profit before tax using the applicable tax rate of the group and the company 
as follows: 

 
 The Group         The Company 
  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

 Profit before taxation    2,454,324 543,687 2,786,518  79,342  
 

 Tax calculated at 33 1/3 % 818,108 181,229 928,839   26,447  
 Adjusted for the effects of: 

Income not subject to tax  (  107,955) (  41,631) (   448,770) (  11,045)   
Expenses not allowable for tax  
purpose 160,445 62,434  137,921 57,112  
Other charges and allowances    (   129,055) (   21,586) (   146,688) (  13,590)  
 
Tax charge    741,543 180,446    471,302   58,924 
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30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

 
9.  TAXATION EXPENSE (CONT’D):  

 
(c) The gains/losses recorded in other comprehensive income and related tax charges/credits are as 

follows:  
 

                                                  The Group                                             
                   2019                                    2018        
 $’000 $’000                  
   

    Before tax Taxation After tax Before tax Taxation  After tax 
 Revaluation gains on  
    property, plant and  
    equipment net of taxes  27,500 (   9,167) 18,333 -       -      -        
 

 Unrealised losses on 
  securities at FVOCI  

   (2018: Available 
                -for-sale)  (705,401) 235,134 (470,267) (  644,797) 209,437 (435,360) 
 

ECL adjustment on  
   securities at FVOCI 122,614 (  40,871) 81,743 -       -      -      

   
  
 Realized gains on   

  securities at FVOCI  
(2018: available-for-sale   
         security)  900,303 (300,101) 600,202  1,154,438 ( 395,330)  759,108

   
  

 345,016 (115,005) 230,011    509,641 ( 185,893)  323,748
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30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

 
9.  TAXATION EXPENSE (CONT’D):  

 
(c) The gains/losses recorded in other comprehensive income and related tax charges/credits are as 

follows (cont’d): 
 
 

                                                  The Company                                        
                   2019                                    2018        
 $’000 $’000                  
   

    Before tax Taxation After tax Before tax Taxation  After tax 
 Revaluation gains on  
    property, plant and  
    equipment net of taxes  27,500 ( 9,167) 18,333 -        -      -       

 
          Unrealised losses on  

   securities at FVOCI 
 (2018: Available-for-sale  

          securities) (705,401) 235,134 (470,267) (  648,782) 216,261 (432,521) 
 
ECL Adjustment on  
       securities FVOCI 107,442 (   35,814)   71,628 -       -      -     

    
  
 Realised gains on    

  securities at FVOCI   
  (2018: available-for-sale  
            securities)  825,641 ( 275,214) 550,427 1,185,986 (  395,330) 790,656

   
 
 255,182 (   85,061) 170,121     537,204 (  179,069) 358,135
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 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
10.  NET PROFIT:  
 

The net profit of the group is reflected in the accounts of the company and its subsidiary as follows: 
 

 2019 2018  
    $’000 $’000  
 

Holding company       1,199,767 20,418  
Subsidiary        513,014 342,823  

 
   1,712,781 363,241  
 

11.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:  
 

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in 
hand as follows: 

 The Group         The Company 
  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 
Cash in hand     125 119 125 80  
Cash at bank  787,795 333,566 652,429 247,409  
 
 787,920 333,685 652,554 247,489  
Bank overdraft  (   71,819) (      311) (    71,819) (      311)  
 
 716,101 333,374 580,735 247,178  
 

  
Cash at bank comprises mainly amounts held in current accounts, which attract interest at 0.5% - 
1%. 

 
The group’s overdraft facilities of $35,000,000 (2018 - $38,000,000) with First Caribbean 
International Bank Limited are secured by Government of Jamaica Investment Note with a face 
value of $35,000,000 (2018 - $37,000,000). The weighted average effective interest rate on the 
overdraft facilities is 17.85% (2018 – 17.85%). 

 
12.  SECURITIES PURCHASED UNDER RESALE AGREEMENTS:  
 

The Group and company have entered into repurchased agreements collaterised by Government of 
Jamaica (GOJ) securities. These agreements may result in credit exposure in the event that the 
counterparty to the transaction is unable to fulfill its contractual obligations. Most of these 
agreements will mature within twelve months. Included in securities purchased under resale 
agreements is accrued interest for the group and company of $14,597,180 (2018 - $13,990,479). 
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 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
13.  INVESTMENT SECURITIES: 

 
 The Group         The Company 
  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Fair value through profit or loss - 
Quoted equities     1,012,220     965,715     712,331     832,553  
 

Fair value through other comprehensive 
 income -  

Government of Jamaica (GOJ) bonds 15,408,817 9,940,914 15,408,817 9,453,538  
Corporate bonds 3,700,330 1,979,587 3,623,800 1,746,777  
Unit Trust Funds       172,412      275,339       55,307      56,195  
 
 19,281,559 12,195,840 19,087,924 11,256,510 

  
 20,293,779 13,161,555 19,800,255 12,089,063  

Accured interest       219,681      199,689     219,370     187,556  
  
 20,513,460 13,361,244 20,019,625 12,276,619  

Amortised cost    
Government of Jamaica (GOJ) bonds -        25,536 -             25,536  
Accrued interest  -                     84 -                   84  
Other investment securities    1,457,547           -        1,457,547           -        
 

   1,457,547        25,620   1,457,547        25,620  
 
 21,971,007 13,386,864 21,477,172 12,302,239  
Less Pledged assets (Note 14) (10,928,445) (   9,883,136) (10,928,445) (  9,883,136)  

  
 11,042,562    3,503,728 10,548,727   2,419,103  

 
At 30 September 2019, the fair value of investment securities disclosed as amortised cost was 
$1,457,547,000 (2018 - $25,536,000) and are considered to be level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. 
There is no market for GOJ bonds classified as loans and receivable. 
 
(a) Funds under management  

 
The group provides custody, investment, management and advisory services for both 
institutions and individuals which involve the group making investment allocation and 
purchase and sales decisions in relation to a range of financial instruments. Those assets 
that are held in a fiduciary capacity are not included in these financial statements (off-
balance sheet). At the end of the reporting period, the group had financial assets under 
management, both on and off-balance sheet of approximately $181,766,327,000 (2018: 
$94,631,205,000). 
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30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
 
14. PLEDGED ASSETS: 
 

Assets of the group are pledged as collateral under repurchase agreement with customers and 
financial institutions.  The group also has investment securities that are pledged as security in 
relation to overdraft and other facilities with the Bank of Jamaica (BOJ) and other financial 
institutions. 
 
                  The Group and Company 
                          Asset                        Related Liability   
    2019    2018     2019   2018
   $’000   $’000    $’000       $’000 
Investment securities (Note 13) 
  Pledged with customers 10,152,894 7,340,713 10,152,894 7,340,713 
  Pledged with BOJ and other 
   financial institutions      775,551 2,542,423      775,551 2,542,423
    
 10,928,445 9,883,136 10,928,445 9,883,136 

 
15. RECEIVABLES: 
   
    The Group        The Company 

      2019      2018      2019   2018 
      $’000     $’000     $’000        $’000 
 

           Receivable from clients 102,860 31,269 102,860 31,269  
           Prepaid expenses 23,766 5,053 22,324 4,639 
           Withholding tax  346,969 351,564 346,969 351,564 
           Other  274,922   49,133 262,062   22,361 
 
 748,517 437,019 734,215 409,833 
  

Receivables collectible within twelve months amounted to $179,717,000 (2018 - $27,204,000) for 
the group and $178,275,000 (2018 - $54,015,000) for the company. 

 
16. EARNINGS PER SHARE: 
 

Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders by 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year excluding ordinary shares 
purchased by the company and held as treasury shares (Note 23). 
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16. EARNINGS PER SHARE (CONT’D): 
    2019    2018 
  
                Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders ($’000) 1,712,781 363,241 
                Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue ($’000) 707,294 650,754 
                Basic earnings per share ($ per share)        2.42      0.56 
  

The number of shares reflects two (2) rights issue which occurred on 5 February 2019 and 20 August 
2019. The basic earnings per share has been restated after taking into consideration the bonus 
issue. 

          
17. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES: 
 

Related parties are identified below, as companies with which there are common directors and/or 
common shareholders, and key management personnel.  Key management personnel are those 
persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of 
the group, including directors and officers and close members of the families of these individuals. 
 
(a) The following transactions were carried out with related parties during the year: 

 
      The Group                 The Company   
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Barita Unit Trusts Management 
 Company Limited - 

                           Interest paid on investments (      5,791) (  1,479) (      5,791)    (  1,479) 
                           Rental income received       582      454    582        454 
 Dividend received 1,100,000      -     1,100,000        -      
 

Barita Unit Trust Funds -   
                          Interest paid on Investments (    52,226)  (48,660) (    52,226) (48,660) 
                           

Barita Leasing Limited - 
                           Interest paid on Investments         -      (     319)         -       (     319) 
  
                     Barita Group Pension -  

Management fees 32,728   23,378 32,728 23,378  
Interest paid on Investments (         605) (  6,261) (         605) (  6,261) 
 

Directors and key management - 
Interest paid on investments (    50,028) (11,638) (    50,028)  (11,638) 
 

Cornerstone United Jamaica Holdings 
   Limited - Management fees     255,000     -         255,000       -      

                           Interest paid on investment (      3,963)     -      (      3,963)       -      
 

Cornerstone Merchant Bank  
   Limited - 

                           Preference shares investment 1,450,000     -      1,450,000       -       

Year ended 30 September 2019
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17. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (CONT’D): 
 

(b) The balances at year end were as follows: 
 

      The Group               The Company    
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Receivables – 
   Barita Unit Trusts Management Company 
      Limited  30,073 -     -       -       
   Barita Pension 32,480 17,655 32,480   17,655 

Barita Unit Trust Money Market Fund  26,792 29,541 -     -        
Barita Unit Trust Capital Growth Fund  13,356 9,512 -     -        
Barita Multiple Portfolio Funds   7,670 15,323 -     -      
 
Cornerstone Trust and Merchant Bank Ltd.  33,938 -     33,938 -     
Cornerstone Investment Holdings Ltd. 1,480,252 -     1,480,252 -     
Key management personnel             23       65          -         -      
 

 1,624,584 72,096 1,546,670 17,655  
 
 

       The Group              The Company    
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Payables - 
Barita Unit Trusts Management  
  Company Limited     -     -    -        1,407   
Barita Unit Trust Money Market Fund  123 153 -     -         
Barita Unit Trust Capital Growth Fund  202 49 -     -        
Barita Multiple Portfolio Funds   59,814 8,146     -        -      
Cornerstone Trust and Merchant Bank Ltd.   17,572    -     17,572    -      
 

 77,711 8,348 17,572 1,407  
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17. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (CONT’D): 
 

(b) The balances at year end were as follows (cont’d): 
 

         The Group                     The Company      
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Investment securities - 
Barita Real Estate Portfolio Fund    60,560 61,628 55,306 56,195     
Multiple Portfolio Fund  96,520 213,708 -     -     
Barita Unit Trust Capital Growth Fund     15,331     10,634      -             -       
 

 172,411    285,970 55,306     56,195   
 

Securities sold under repurchase agreement  
Barita Unit Trusts Management Company 
 Limited  -      -      (     10,784) (     11,106)     

Barita Unit Trust Money Market Fund  (   175,545) (   145,266) (   175,545)  (   145,266)  
Barita Unit Trust Capital Growth Fund  (   514,051) (   279,261) (   514,051) (   279,261)     
Barita Multiple Portfolio Funds  (2,309,557) (1,553,659) (2,309,557) (1,553,659)  
Barita Group Pension Scheme (     68,980) (     70,285) (     68,980) (    70,285)  
Cornerstone Trust and Merchant Bank Ltd.  (   884,142) -        (   884,142) -      
Cornerstone Investment Holdings Ltd. (       1,909) -        (       1,909) -      
Directors         -       (1,508,503)        -      (1,508,503)  
 
 (3,954,184) (3,556,974) (3,964,968) (3,568,080)  
  

All amounts recorded in receivables, payables and securities sold under repurchase agreements are 
due within twelve months.  

 
(c)  Key management compensation  

 
         The Group                  The Company     
  2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

  Salaries      130,740 129,060 130,740 116,854  
  Statutory deductions   7,968 10,489 7,968 10,151  
  Pension  6,689 5,829 6,689 5,829  
  Commission    16,674    8,766   16,674     8,766   
      

 162,071 154,144 162,071 141,600 
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17. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (CONT’D): 
 

(c)  Key management compensation (cont’d) 
 

 The Group         The Company 
  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
     Directors’ emoluments 
       Management remuneration  
      (included in staff costs)  25,872 39,338 25,872 26,684  
     Directors’ fees  21,825   6,485 19,825   6,435  
 
 47,697 45,823 45,697 33,119  

   
 Interests in unconsolidated structured entities  
 

A structured entity is an entity in which voting or similar rights are not a dominant factor in 
deciding control. Structured entities are generally created to achieve a narrow and well defined 
objective with restrictions around their ongoing activities. An interest in a structured entity is any 
form of contractual or non-contractual involvement which creates variability in returns arising from 
the performance of the equity for the company. Such interests include holdings of debt or equity 
securities and investments management agreements. Structured entities are assessed for control in 
accordance with accounting policy set out in Note 3(b). 

 
The group, through its subsidiary BUTM manages a number of Unit Trusts namely: Barita Unit Trust 
Money Market Fund, Barita Unit Trust Capital Growth Fund and Barita Multiple Portfolio Funds 
(which includes an FX Bond Portfolio Fund, Income Portfolio Fund, FX Growth Portfolio, Real Estate 
Portfolio, USD Fixed Rate Portfolio, the JMD Fixed Rate Portfolio, Premium Growth JMD and 
Premium Growth USD). These funds were established to provide customers with investment 
opportunities.  

 
The unit trusts have an independent trustee. The group, through its subsidiary BUTM, is entitled to 
receive management fees based on the assets under management. The group also holds units in the 
unit trusts.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements

 
Page 78 

 
BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
 
17. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (CONT’D): 
 

Interests in unconsolidated structured entities (cont’d) 
 
The table below shows the group’s interest and income arising from involvement with the unit 
trusts as well as the maximum exposure to loss. The maximum exposure to loss from the group’s 
interest represents the maximum loss that the group could incur as a result of its involvement with 
the unit trust regardless of the probability of the loss being incurred. The income from the group’s 
interest includes recurring and non-recurring fees and any market to market gains/losses on a net 
basis.  

 
    2019    2018 
   $’000   $’000 
            
            The group’s interest – carrying value of units held 
                (included in fair value through other comprehensive  
 Income 2018: available-for – sale investments  172,411 275,339
   
            Maximum exposure to loss  -       282,642
   

Liability to the Unit Trust in relation to investment in  
repurchase obligations (included in repurchase obligations on 
the consolidated statements of financial position)  (   2,999,153) (1,978,186)
   

Total income from the group’s interests      426,670     435,254
   
 
The group has not provided any non-contractual financial support during the period and does not 
anticipate providing non-contractual support to the Unit Trusts in the future.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Year ended 30 September 2019

Notes to the Financial Statements



169 |  BARITA INVESTMENTS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2019 BARITA INVESTMENTS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2019 |  170

 
Page 79 

BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
 
 

18.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT:  
 

                                                The Group                                
  Office 
  Furniture, 
  Land & Machines & Computer Motor 

 Buildings Equipment Equipment Vehicles  Total 
      $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
                                        2019                                             
 

At Cost or Valuation -   
30 September 2017  239,853 54,411 52,675 26,356 373,295 
Additions   -     2,384 1,495 -     3,879   
Adjustments (       491) (  2,458) 2,170   (     534) (    1,313)  
Disposals         -           -         -     (16,087) (  16,087) 
     
30 September 2018  239,362 54,337 56,340   9,735 359,774 
Additions   47,758 22,074 24,545 27,822 122,199   
Adjustments   -     (   3,260) 76 -     (   3,184) 
Disposals   (  12,509) (      482) (     231) -     (  13,222) 
Revaluation    27,500     -          -         -       27,500
       
30 September 2019  302,111 72,669 80,730 37,557 493,067 
 
Depreciation -  
30 September 2017  15,789  34,663 44,777 8,702 103,931 
Charge for the year   5,559 2,621    8,218 3,633    20,031  
Disposals         -        -          -      (  7,721) (   7,721) 
 
30 September 2018    21,348 37,284 52,995    4,614 116,241 
Charge for the year    6,339 4,195 10,928 5,261 26,723 
Disposals  (   3,000) (      90) (      82)      -     (    3,172) 
 
30 September 2019    24,687 41,389 63,841   9,875 139,792 
 
Net Book Value –  
30 September 2019  277,424 31,280 16,889 27,682 353,275 
 
30 September 2018  218,014 17,053   3,345   5,121 243,533
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18.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D):  
 

                                           The Company                                
  Office 
  Furniture, 
  Land & Machines & Computer Motor 

 Buildings Equipment Equipment Vehicles  Total 
      $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
                                        2019                                             
 

At Cost or Valuation -   
30 September 2017  238,768 54,482 49,114 19,218 361,582 
Additions   -     1,385 1,495 -     2,880   
Adjustments   (      524) (   2,865) 1,257 1,059 (    1,073)  
Disposals         -           -         -     (  9,684) (    9,684) 
     
30 September 2018  238,244 53,002 51,866  10,593 353,705 
Additions   47,758 22,045 24,545 27,822 122,170  
Adjustments    -     (   3,260) 76 -    (   3,184) 
Revaluation  27,500 -     -     -    27,500 
Disposals   (  12,509) (     395) (     225)      -    ( 13,129)
       
30 September 2019  300,993 71,392 76,262 38,415 487,062 
 
Depreciation -  
30 September 2017  14,671  34,830 40,397 8,598 98,496 
Charge for the year   5,559 2,540    8,218 2,566    18,883  
Disposal  -        -          -         (   5,692) (   5,692) 
 
30 September 2018    20,230 37,370 48,615    5,472 111,687   
Charge for the year    6,339 4,050 10,910 5,261 26,560 
Disposal  (   3,000) (       81) (      76)     -     (   3,157) 
 
30 September 2019    23,569 41,339 59,449 10,733 135,090 
 
Net Book Value –  
30 September 2019  277,424 30,053 16,813 27,682 351,972 
 
30 September 2018  218,014 15,632   3,251   5,121 242,018 
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 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
 
 

18.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D):  
 

The group’s land and building were revalued as at 15 January 2019 by D C Tavares & Finson Realty 
Limited, professionally qualified property appraisers. The valuations were done on the basis of open 
market value. 

 
The property, plant and equipment that subsequent to initial recognition are measured at fair 
value, are grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable. The 
levels are as follows: 

 
 Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in 

active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
 

 Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices 
included within Level 1 that are observable for the assets or liability, either directly (that is 
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices); 

 
 Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs from the assets or liability 

that are not based on observation of market data (that is, unobservable inputs). 
 

The items of property, plant and equipment of the group and the company shown at revalued 
amounts are included in Level 2. There were no transfers between levels for both years. 

 
The historical cost of land and building is not available. 
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19.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS:   
 The Group and Company 
  Computer  

      Software           $’000 $’000 $’000 
  

At Cost or Valuation -   
30 September 2017 118,017 
Addition   13,697 
  
at 30 September 2018  131,714  
Additions      30,794   
 
At 30 September 2019  162,508  
 

Amortisation -  
30 September 2017 83,825  
Charge for the year    38,799  
  
30 September 2018 122,624  
Charge for the year      6,353  
 
30 September 2019 128,977  
 

Net Book Value – 
30 September 2019   33,531 
  
30 September 2018     9,090  
 

 
Software development costs were capitalized as it is expected that economic benefits attributable 
to the use of the software will flow to the group. The software is expected to replace the current 
investment management system used by the group.  

 
20.  INVESTMENT:   

 
This investment is in respect of the company’s seat on the stock exchange and is carried at fair 
value. The seat has an indefinite useful life and was tested for impairment. The impairment test 
was done by comparing the recoverable amount to the carrying value. 
 
The recoverable amount is based on the market value. The market value is based on the last sale 
price for a seat on the stock exchange. This would be classified as level 2 in the fair value 
hierarchy. 
 
The carrying amount would have been $2 if the asset was carried using the cost model. 

Year ended 30 September 2019
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21.  PAYABLES:  

 The Group         The Company 
  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Client funds   170,871 402,176 170,871 402,176   
Statutory liabilities    12,017 9,855 11,513 9,531  
Other 659,563 139,549 595,034 15,249  
Dividend payable (note 27)    897,235 263,067    897,235 263,067  

 
  1,739,686 814,647 1,674,653 690,023  

 
22.  DEFERRED TAXATION:  

 
Deferred income taxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method using 
a principal tax rate of 33 1/3%. 
 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set 
off current tax assets against current tax liabilities. The amounts determined after appropriate 
offsetting are as follows: 
 

 The Group         The Company 
  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

  Deferred tax liabilities        622,850 586,014 566,354 568,729  
 
The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the period is as follows: 
 

 The Group         The Company 
  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

  Net liabilities at beginning of year       586,014 358,983 568,729 353,011  
  Charged/(credited) to  
    profit or loss (Note 9)      (  76,753) 47,962 (  87,436) 36,649  
  Charged to other 
    comprehensive income (Note 9)  115,005 185,893     85,061 179,069     
  Other allowances   (    1,416) (    6,824)      -           -       
 

          Net liabilities at end of year  622,850 586,014 566,354 568,729  
 

  

Year ended 30 September 2019
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22.  DEFERRED TAXATION (CONT’D):  
 

Deferred income tax liabilities have not been calculated in respect of unappropriated profits of the 
subsidiary as the amounts are not subject to tax. Such unappropriated profits totaled $515,679,000 
as at 30 September 2019 (2018- $1,040,423,000). 
 
The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities (prior to offsetting of balances within the same 
tax jurisdiction) during the period is as follows: 
 

 
                                      The Group                                        
  Accelerated Interest Exchange Investment 

 depreciation receivable gain securities  Total 
 Deferred tax liabilities            $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

  
At 1 October 2017    52,028   66,176 115,742   268,595   502,541   
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss  1,500 1,839 35,005 -      38,344 
Charged/(credited) to other  
   comprehensive income   -         -            -     179,069 179,069 
 
At 30 September 2018 53,528 68,015 150,747 447,664 719,954 
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss  1,538 1,978 10,950 -      14,466 
Charged/(credited) to other  
   comprehensive income        -         -           -     142,943 142,943 
 
At 30 September 2019 55,066 69,993 161,697 590,607 877,363 

 
  
 
    Investment Interest  

   securities payable Total 
 Deferred tax assets              $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
 At 1 October 2017    123,153    20,405 143,558 
 Charged to profit or loss     (   5,285) (  4,333) (   9,618)  
 
 At 30 September 2018   117,868 16,072 133,940 
 Charged to profit or loss     117,015   3,558 120,573  
 
 At 30 September 2019   234,883 19,630 254,513 
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22.  DEFERRED TAXATION (CONT’D):  

 
                                      The Company                                   
  Accelerated Interest Exchange Investment 

 depreciation receivable gain securities  Total 
 Deferred tax liabilities            $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

  
At 1 October 2017  52,191 63,637 112,144 268,597 496,569   
Charged to profit or loss       1,522 334 25,175 -     27,031 
Charged to other comprehensive 
     Income        -        -            -     179,069 179,069 
 
At 30 September 2018  53,713 63,971 137,319 447,666 702,669 
Charged to profit or loss       1,467 5,919 25,751 -     33,137 
Charged to other comprehensive 
     Income  -        -            -       85,061   85,061 
 
At 30 September 2019  55,180 69,890 163,070 532,727 820,867 

   
 
    Investment Interest  

   securities payable Total 
 Deferred tax assets              $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
At 1 October 2017        123,153       20,405 143,558  
Charged to profit or loss     (    5,285) (  4,333) (    9,618) 
 
At 30 September 2018       117,868 16,072 133,940          
Charged to profit or loss     117,015   3,558 120,573 
 
At 30 September 2019    243,883 19,630 254,513 
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22.  DEFERRED TAXATION (CONT’D):  
  

The amounts shown in the statement of financial position include the following to be settled or 
recovered after more than 12 months: 

 
 The Group         The Company 
  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Deferred tax liabilities  (877,363) (719,954) (  820,867) (702,669)   
Deferred tax assets   254,513 133,940   254,513 133,940  
 

23.  SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES:  
 

 The Group         The Company 
  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Authorised:  
Ordinary shares 14,000,000,000   
   (2018 – 1,000,000,000)                      
Preference 1,000,000,000     
   (2018 - 500,000,000) 
Issued and fully paid   
Ordinary stock units 
825,003,263 (2018 – 445,876,824) 9,887,680 745,494 9,887,680 745,494  

Non-redeemable preference shares  1,000,000 -      1,000,000 -      
Treasury shares  
10,753,848 (2018 – 1,949,508) (     188,299) (    5,067)          -           -       
 

 10,699,381 740,427 10,887,680 745,494  
 
(a) During the financial year, the company increased its authorized share capital by the way 

of a resolution passed by the board of directors on 21 March 2019, increasing the 
Authorised Capital from One Billion Five Hundred Thousand shares to Fifteen Billion 
shares. 
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30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
 

23.  SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES (CONT’D):  
 

(b) On 17 January 2019, a Board resolution was passed for a non-renounceable rights issue of 
ten (10) additional shares for every seventeen (17) shares owned by existing stockholders 
of the company at a subscription price of $15.50 per share and record date of 5 February 
2019. Ordinary shares issued through this rights issue was 262,280,484 shares. 

 
(c)   On 31 July 2019, a Board resolution was passed for a non-renounceable rights issue of 

eleven (11) additional shares for every one hundred (100) shares owned by existing 
stockholders of the company at a subscription price of $45 per share and a record date of 
20 August 2019. Ordinary shares issued through this right issue was 116,845,955 shares.  

 
(d) Preference shares of One Hundred Million (100,000,000) were issued on 3 May 2019 at a 

price of $10.00 per share at 4% per annum. 
 

(i) The holders of these shares will not have the right to vote at any general meeting 
of the company. 

(ii) In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the issuer, the 
preference shareholders are entitled to receive settlement in preference to 
ordinary shareholders. 

 
(e)  BUTM participated in Barita initial public offering on 15 January 2010 by acquiring 598,000 

ordinary shares and 45,290,000 redeemable preference shares. BUTM acquired additional 
Barita ordinary shares of 50,500 and 3,713,383 during 2014 and 2015; respectively. BUTM 
sold 462, 867 and 1,949,508 shares during 2015 and 2018 respectively. During the year 
2019, BUTM participated in the Barita rights issue and acquired additional shares, thereby 
increasing the shareholdings by 8,804,340. The ordinary shares acquired by BUTM are 
treated as treasury shares in the consolidated financial statements.  

 
24.  CAPITAL RESERVE:  

      The Group                 The Company     
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Balance at beginning of the year  93,133 93,133 154,988 154,988 
Revaluation gains on property, plant  
  and equipment   18,333      -       18,333        -     
 
  111,466 93,133 173,321 154,988 
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24.  CAPITAL RESERVE (CONT’D):  
 
The consolidated revaluation reserve represents unrealized surplus on the revaluation of property, 
plant and equipment less consolidation adjustments to account for the acquisition of Barita Unit 
Trusts Management Company in the Group financial statements.  
 

25.  FAIR VALUE RESERVE:  
 
This represents the unrealized surplus or deficit on the revaluation of available-for-sale investment 
securities and stock exchange seat.  
 

26.  CAPITAL REDEMPTION RESERVE:  
 
This reserve arose on the redemption of preference shares during the 2014. 
financial year. 
 

27. DIVIDENDS:  
  2019    2018 
   $’000   $’000 
 

Distribution to ordinary stockholders: 
$0.11 per stock (2018: $0.30) 49,046 133,763 
$0.82 per stock unit (2018: $0.59)    365,619 263,067 
$1.267 per stock unit - proposed    897,235      -      
 
 1,311,900 396,830 

 
28. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES: 
  
 This note explains the impact of adoption of IFRS 9, Financial Instruments and IFRS 15, Revenue 

from Contracts with Customers on the group’s financial statements. 
 

(a) Impact on financial statements  
 

The group has adopted IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 for the financial year ended 30 September 2019 
which resulted in a change in the group’s accounting policies. As explained in note 3, IFRS 9 
and IFRS 15 were generally adopted without restating comparative information. The 
reclassifications and adjustments arising from the new impairment rules are therefore not 
reflected in the statement of financial position at 30 September 2018, but are recognized in 
the opening statement of financial position on 1 October 2018. 
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30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

 
28. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):  
 

(b) IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ 
 

IFRS 9 replaces the provisions of IAS 39 that relate to the recognition, classification and 
measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities, de-recognition of financial 
instruments and impairment of financial assets.  

 
The adoption of IFRS 9, ‘Financial Instruments’, from 1 October 2018 resulted in changes in 
accounting policies and adjustments to the amounts recognized in the financial statements. 
The new accounting policies are set out in note 3 above. In accordance with transitional 
provisions in IFRS 9, comparative figures have not been restated. 

 
The following table explains the original measurement categories under IAS 39 and the 
new measurement categories under IFRS 9 for each class of the group’s financial assets as at 
1 October 2018.  
 

 Impairment of financial assets  
 
 Debt securities  
 

The group applies the IFRS 9 general approach to measuring expected credit losses 
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for debt securities. This resulted in an 
adjustment of $164,198,000 for the group to the opening retained earnings.  
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    BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

 
28. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D): 

 
(b) IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ (cont’d) 
   

 New IAS 39 carrying   IFRS 9 carrying 
 classification amount at 30   amount at  

Original Original under September Re-   1 October 
 Classification Measurement IFRS 9 2018 measurement    2018 
    $’000  $’000  
Financial assets 
 
Cash and cash equivalents Loans and receivables  Amortised cost Amortised cost  333,374  - 333,374  
 
Due from related party Loans and receivables  Amortised cost  Amortised cost   63,748  - 63,748 
 
  Fair value through 
Investments at fair value  other comprehensive Fair value through 
through profit or loss Available-for-sale income profit or loss  965,715  - 965,715 
 
Investments at fair value   Fair value through Fair value through 
through other comprehensive   other comprehensive  other comprehensive 
Income  Available-for-sale income income  16,356,610         -        16,356,610 
 
    17,719,447         -        17,719,447 
 
 
(c) The adoption of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers did not impact the timing or amount of fees and commission income  

 from contracts with customers and the related assets and liabilities recognized by disclosure requirements. 
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SHAREHOLDINGS OF SENIOR MANAGERS 

AND CONNECTED PARTIES
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Proxy Form  Barita Investments Limited

I/We  _________________________________________  of  ______________________________________________

being a member/members of Barita Investments Limited, hereby appoint  _____________________________________

of  ___________________________________________ or failing him/her  ___________________________________

of  _____________________________________________________________________________________________

as my/our proxy to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at the 

AC Marriott Hotel, 38-42 Lady Musgrave Road on Thursday, March 26, 2020, at 10:00am and at any adjournment thereof.

Please indicate by inserting a cross in the appropriate square how you wish your votes to be cast. Unless otherwise 

instructed, the proxy will vote or abstain from voting, at his/her discretion. 

Signed  _______________________________________         Dated the 27 date of January, 2020

Notes 

•  This Form of Proxy must be received by the Secretary of the Company not less than 48 hours 

before the time appointed for the Meeting.

•  This Form of Proxy should bear stamp duty of $100. Adhesive stamps are to be cancelled by the 

person signing the Proxy Form.

•  If the appointer is a Corporation, this Form of Proxy must be executed under its Common Seal or 

under the hand of an offi cer or attorney duly authorized in writing.
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